# GENE POLYMORPHISMS AND RELATED CELL MARKERS IN PERIODONTITIS LESIONS

MAURO DONATI

Department of Periodontology Institute of Odontology The Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg Sweden



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

2009

All published and accepted papers were reprinted with permission from the copyright holders. Printed in Sweden by Intellecta Infolog AB, Västra Frölunda 2009 ISBN 978-91-628-7736-1

To my father and my mother

A Giorgio e Carla

## Contents

ABSTRACT	7
PREFACE	9
ABBREVIATIONS	11
INTRODUCTION	13
Periodontitis lesion	14
Susceptibility to periodontitis	
AIMS	44
MATERIAL AND METHODS	45
Study population	45
Blood sampling, DNA separation and genotype detection	46
Biopsy sampling	47
Immunohistochemical processing	48
Histological analysis	
DATA ANALYSIS	51
RESULTS	52
MAIN FINDINGS	60
CONCLUDING REMARKS	61
REFERENCES	71

## APPENDIX

Study I Study II Study III Study IV Study V

## Abstract

Gene polymorphisms and related cell markers in periodontitis lesions

### Mauro Donati

Inflammatory and immune reactions to microbial plaque are the predominant features of periodontitis. Epidemiological studies revealed that differences in oral hygiene alone and that not everybody is equally susceptible. Periodontitis is considered to be a multifactorial disease where the interaction of multiple genetic and environmental components results into disease expression. The objectives of the present series of studies were (i) to investigate the association of gene polymorphisms related to some immune regulation components (*IL10, TNFA, IL4RA CD14*) with severe chronic periodontitis (studies I-II), (ii) to study the local expression of some immune regulation components in relation to gene polymorphisms in subjects with chronic periodontitis (study III), (iii) to study the correlation between inflammatory cells and functional markers in gingival lesions obtained from subjects with severe chronic periodontitis (study IV) (iv) and to study the reaction of B-1a cells to *de novo* plaque formation in subjects who were treated for severe chronic periodontitis (study V).

It was demonstrated that the proportion of subjects that exhibited the -1087 IL10 GG genotype was significantly larger in the group with severe periodontitis than in the group of healthy controls (study I), that the proportion of subjects that exhibited the -159 CD14 TT genotype was significantly smaller in the group of subjects with severe periodontitis than in the periodontally healthy group (study II) and that the proportion of IL-10 positive cells in the peripheral area of periodontitis lesions was significantly larger in subjects with the -1087 IL10 GG genotype than in subjects with AG or AA genotypes (study II).

It was also observed that B cells (B-1a cells and B-2 cells) occurred in larger proportions than T cells, plasma cells and neutrophils in periodontitis lesions and a significant correlation was found between percentages of B-1a cells and plasma cells and between densities of B-lymphocytes and plasma cells (study IV). Further, biopsies retrieved after 3 weeks of plaque accumulation contained larger proportions of B-1a cells than biopsies representing healthy sites (study V).

**Key words**: Allele, B lymphocyte, cell-surface molecule, cytokine, gene expression, genotype, gingivitis, host response, inflammation, periodontal disease

ISBN: 978-91-628-7736-1

**Correspondence**: Mauro Donati Department of Periodontology, Institute of Odontology, The Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg, Box 450, SE 405 30 Göteborg Sweden. E-mail: mauro.donati@odontologi.gu.se

## Preface

The present thesis is based on the following publications, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- Berglundh T, Donati M, Hahn-Zoric M, Hanson LÅ, Padyukov L. (2003) Association of the -1087 *IL-10* gene polymorphism with severe chronic periodontitis in Swedish Caucasians. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology* 30: 249-254.
- II. Donati M, Berglundh T, Hytönen AM, Hahn-Zoric M, Hanson LÅ, Padyukov L. (2005) Association of the -159 CD14 polymorphism and lack of association of the -308 TNFA and Q551R IL-4RA polymorphisms with severe chronic periodontitis in Swedish Caucasians. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology* **32**: 474-479
- III. Donati M, Liljenberg B, Padyukov L, Berglundh T. (2008) Local expression of interleukin-10 and mCD14 in relation to the -1087 *IL-10* and -159 CD14 gene polymorphisms in chronic periodontitis. *Journal of Periodontology* 79: 517-524
- IV. Donati M, Liljenberg B, Zitzmann NU, Berglundh T. (2009) B-1a cells and plasma cells in periodontitis lesions. *Journal of Periodontal Research* (Accepted for publication)
- V. Donati M, Liljenberg B, Zitzmann NU, Berglundh T. (2009) B-1a cells in experimental gingivitis in man. *Journal of Periodontology* (Accepted for publication)

## Abbreviations

- ABC = avidin-labelled biotin complex
- ACP = Antigen presenting cell
- B220 = Isoform of the CD45
- BC = Bone crest
- BCR = B cell receptor
- BoP = Bleeding on probing
- CD = Cluster of differentiation
- CEJ = cementoenamel junction
- CpG = Unmethylated cytosine–guanine sequences of microbial DNA
- DAB = Diaminobenzidine
- DAPI = 4,6 diamino-2 phenylindole
- DC = Dendritic cell
- DNA = Deoxyribonucleic acid
- EDTA = ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid disodium salt dihydrate
- GC = Germinal center
- GI = Gingival index
- HLA = Human leukocyte antigen
- IFN $\gamma$  = Interferon  $\gamma$
- Ig = Immunoglobulin
- IL = Interleukin
- IL-4R = Interleukin-4 receptor
- ICT = inflammatory cell lesion in the connective tissue
- LPS = Lipopolysaccharide
- MHC-II = Major histocompatibility complex II
- mRNA = messenger ribonucleic acid
- MZ = Marginal zone

- PAGE = Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- PBMC = Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
- PDI = Periodontal disease index
- PI = Plaque index
- PMN = Polymorphonuclear leukocyte
- PPD = Probing pocket depth
- SDS = Sodium dodecyl sulfate
- SLE = Systemic Lupus Erythematosus
- SNP = Single nucleotide polymorphism
- SRP = Scaling and root planning
- STRP = Short tandem repeat polymorphism
- TCR = T cell receptor
- Th1, Th2 = classes of CD4 effector cells
- TLR = Toll like receptor
- TNF = Tumor necrosis factor
- VNTR = Variable number tandem repeat

## Introduction

Findings from epidemiological studies have revealed that chronic periodontitis is a common disorder and severe forms of the disease that may lead to early and considerable amounts of bone loss and tooth mortality appear in 8-10% of adults. In subjects who are susceptible to periodontitis, the response to a subgingival microbial biofilm results in an inflammatory process in the periodontal tissues that mediates destruction of connective tissue attachment and alveolar bone. Leukocytes and/or their products, which are associated with tissue destruction, are controlled by immune-regulatory mechanisms and the equilibrium or imbalance established between the biofilm and the inflammatory process determines the severity of the periodontitis lesion.

Mechanisms of the host response in the periodontal tissues are complex and involve the so-called *innate* (non-specific) and *adaptive* (specific) responses. The *innate* host response is the inborn biological response to the microbial challenge that requires no prior learning or experience and constitutes the early step of the immune response. This defense system includes the physical barriers of the oral mucosal epithelial surfaces and vascular and cellular aspects of the inflammatory response. The *adaptive* host response is a specifically "tailored" defense system against the microbial challenge. This system of defense includes the *humoral* immune response based on the production of specific antibodies by B-lymphocytes directed against particular oral microorganisms and the *cell mediated* immune response that involves cytotoxic T-lymphocytes to protect against virus- or bacteria-infected cells. Parts of the *adaptive* host response in periodontitis are outlined in Fig. 1.

13

Fig.1 Schematic outline of regulatory components of adaptive host response in periodontitis (Adapted from Berglundh & Donati 2005)



#### Periodontitis lesion

Page & Schroder (1976) classified the progression of gingival and periodontal inflammation on the basis of the available information gained from animal biopsy material. They divided the progressing lesion in four phases: *initial, early, established* and *advanced* lesions. According to their view, the initial and early lesions described the histopathology of the early stages of gingivitis, while the established lesion reflected the histopathology of more "chronic" gingivitis. However, these descriptions do not properly reflect the

histopathology in humans where elements of acute and chronic inflammation co-exist in early, established and advanced lesions. Kinane et al. (2003) proposed a new classification utilizing the Page & Schroder system as a framework to outline the histopathogenesis of periodontal disease. In this classification the clinical conditions (i.e. normal healthy gingiva, early gingivitis, established gingivitis and periodontitis) are categorized according to the histopathologic condition. Thus, established gingivitis is described as a lesion with neither bone loss nor apical epithelial migration and with a plasma cell density varying between 10% and 30%. Periodontitis is described as a lesion with bone loss and epithelial migration apical of the cemento-enamel junction and with a plasma cell density of more than 50%.

The relevance of plasma cells and B-lymphocytes has been highlighted in several reports on the composition inflammatory cells in periodontitis lesions. In a review on aspects of adaptive host response in periodontitis a metaanalysis was made with regard to the cell composition in periodontitis lesions (Berglundh & Donati 2005). Studies, describing the distribution of cells based on the morphological and phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 1.

5	
$\simeq$	
ă	
.=	
at	
g	
õ	
Ц	
3	
ž	
÷	
ŭ	
n	
ര്	
5	
m	
E	
2	
Ð	
q	
e	
q	
1a	
7	
Ľ	
_:	
E	
· Ξ	
S	
-	
IS.	
÷	
pt	
ō	
ğ	
-12	
E.	
ď	
Ð	
Ē.	
t	
. =	
$\mathbf{s}$	
E	
S	
Ľ	
ō	
\$	
<u>1</u>	
st	
٠Ë	
ē	
5	
Б	
la.	
- F	
5	
Ξ	
5	
Ę	
2	
G	
рĭ	
Ч	
5	
le	
đ	
Ľ,	
L .	

Reference	Periodontal diagnosis	Sample	Technique	Results
Mackler et al. 1977	Gingival biopsies from areas characterized as clinically normal, mild gingivitis, periodontitis (PDI Ramfjord 1959)	Specimens of each category from 5 patients of various age and sex.	Immunofluorescence	Higher concentration of lymphocytes and plasma cells (IgG & IgM) in periodontitis biopsies compared to normal healthy biopsies.
Seymour & Greenspan 1979	Patients with chronic periodontal disease.	Twelve biopsies. Sites scheduled for surgery with PPD 4- 8mm and BoP+	Immunohistochemistry Immunofluorescence	Majority of the lymphocytes had the phenotype of B cells and were positive for IgM and IgG.
Lindhe et al. 1980	Twenty-two patients with advanced periodontal tissue destruction, with PPD≥8 and 50% bone loss	In each patient six sites were selected: two sites with advanced disease, two sites with established gingivitis, two sites with "healthy" gingiva.	Morphometric analysis. For each biopsy numerical density (Nv) and volumetric density (Vv) of cells were calculated.	Periodontitis lesion: 31% Plasma cells, 5-10% Lymphocytes, 5% Fibroblasts, 1.3% Macrophages, 1.3% Neutrophils G., 11% collagen. In the gingivitis lesion the ratio lymphocytes-plasma cells was 1:1, in the periodontitis was 1:3
Charon et al. 1981	Fifteen patients 30-88 year-old with advanced periodontal disease	Biopsies from both diseased and healthy sites and blood samples from each patient.	Immunohistochemistry	The plasma cell predominance, the presence of T-cells and activated macrophages indicated both humoral and cell-mediated responses are operative in human chronic periodontitis

Only few PMNs. Plasma cells dominated in the central portion of the lesion.	In Childhood lesions most of the cells were small lymphocytes, in Juvenile Periodontitis >50% of the cells were plasma cells. The Chronic Adult Periodontitis showed a composition of this two extremes, with lymphocytes HLADr+ (B cells) and plasma cells dominating the lesions.	In both (S) and (NS) biopsies, the majority of lymphocytes were positive for B cell surface antigen. The vast majority of T cells were of T-helper, with few T-cytotoxic/suppressor cells. At the apical portion of ICT, B cells and plasma cell predominated.	Pan B cells were significantly more prevalent in infiltrates from active sites than in stable than or healthy sites. The T/B cell ratio was also significantly lower in active than stable biopsies.
Immunohistochemistry	Immunohistochemistry, monoclonal antibody- HLADr	Immunohistochemistry and morphometric analysis.	Immunohistochemistry.
Biopsies from sites with PPD≥5mm and bone loss	2 biopsies Childhood Gingivitis, 12 Chronic Adult Periodontitis, 6 Juvenile Periodontitis	33 bleeding suppurating (S) and 23 bleeding non- suppurating (NS) interproximal biopsies	Biopsies from "active" sites. Clinically similar but "stable" or healthy sites were obtained from each patient.
Patients with advanced periodontitis	Three groups: Childhood Gingivitis, Juvenile Periodontitis, Chronic Adult Periodontitis	Nine patients with advanced chronic periodontitis	Thirteen adult periodontal maintenance patients
Okada et al. 1983	Gillett at al. 1986	Passo et al. 1988	Reinhardt et al. 1988

The T- and B-lymphocyte populations increased approximately 20 x progressing from healthy to gingivitis to periodontitis specimens.	Plasma cell (PC) counts increased significantly (p less than 0.05) with lesion severity. They were absent from epithelium and sparse in the clinically healthy control specimens.	In P-sites, the numbers of macrophages, plasma cells, lymphocytes and total inflammatory cells were significantly higher as compared to C-sites.
Immunohistochemistry.	Electron microscopy and quantification of plasma cells by ultrastructural classification at magnification of x 1400 and x 5000	The cells were identified and quantified by light microscopic evaluation of nuclear and cytoplasmatic staining at a magnification of x 1250
Healthy gingiva: PI=0, GI =0, gingival sulcus 0-2mm; Chronic gingivitis: PI<1.0, GI at least 2.0, gingival sulcus 0-3mm; Chronic periodontitis GI at least 2.0 PPD ≥ 6mm	5 untreated AP with mean PPD = $6.0$ ; 5 with treated AP with mean PPD = $5.0$ ; 5 with treated JP with maen PPD = $6.3$ ; 5 with untreated JP mean PPD = $8.5$ 3 controls with mean PPD = $2.3$ .	Site had lost 2 mm or more attachment within the previous month (P), and the controlateral site had not (C).
8 subjects each group: healthy gingiva, chronic gingivitis and chronic adult periodontitis.	Biopsies from 20 patients and 3 control volunteers: 5 with treated adult periodontitis (AP), 5 with untreated AP, 5 with treated juvenile periodontitis (JP) and 5 with untreated JP.	10 systemically healthy adult patients with untreated advanced periodontitis were monitored during a period of 10 months.
Cobb et al. 1989	Joachim et al. 1990	Zappa et al. 1991

CD3+ cells were mainly located beneath the pocket epithelium. CD4+ and CD8+ cells were evenly distributed within this T-cell infiltrate. IgG+ plasma cells dominated lesion with equal participation of both T-cell subpopulations.	The percentage of CD23+ and CD25+, CD19+ B-cells which were identified in 13 out of 19 samples from periodontitis varied significantly in spite of similar clinical status. The frequency of B-cells in the gingivitis was much lower than that of periodontitis.	The progressive disease sites (PDA) comprised of a larger relative volume of plasma cells, a higher % number of plasma cells and monocytes/macrophages than corresponding sites in the non- progressive disease (NPD) group. Both T cell markers (CD3 and CD4) and B cells markers (CD22) were significantly elevated in the PDA compared to the PDI lesions.
The tissue samples were processed for both histopathological and immunohistochemical examinations.	Immunohistochemistry.	Morphometric analysis of the ICT and immunohistochemical examination by monoclonal antibody towards CD3, CD4, CD8, CD14, CD19 and CD22.
Gingival biopsies were obtained from the sites with advanced bone destruction, PPD $\geq$ 7mm in each of the 16 patients.	Periodontitis biopsies were obtained with PPD ≥5mm. The five gingivitis specimens with PPD <4.	From the 8 test subjects, ≥1 interproximal site with disease activity (progressive disease active PDA) and controlateral sites without disease progression (progression (progressive disease inactive PDI). 11 sites non-progressive disease (NPD).
Biopsies were obtained from 16 patients between 22 and 33 years of age.	Nineteen patients with moderate to advanced adult periodontitis and 5 gingivitis patients as control.	Eight subjects (test) with advanced periodontal disease, with >2mm of attachment loss at 3 or more sites during the first and the second 12-month interval and eleven subjects (control) were with non-progressive sites.
Celenligil et al. 1993	Yamazaki et al. 1993	al. 1994 al. al.

Rerolundh et	16 individuals with	The 3 deenest	Immunchistochemical	The improved clinical condition
al. 1999	advanced periodontal.	interproximal sites. Following periodontal therapy (SRP) 1 biopsy was collected at 12-month and at 24-month among the selected sites. Blood samples at the 24-month re- examination.	analysis by monoclonal antibody towards CD3 and CD19 and flow cytometry	following SRP was, in addition, accompanied by a substantial reduction in the size of the inflammatory lesion (P-ICT). Following therapy both the density of CD19 positive cells and the proportion of CD3 positive cells expressing TCR Vbeta genes were reduced in the P-ICT, but apparently failed to affect the relative distribution of lymphocyte subsets in peripheral blood.
Lappin et al. 1999	Biopsies from 9 adult periodontitis (AP), from 10 patients with early onset periodontitis (EOP).	The PPD of the biopsies sites ranged from 6.0-9.0 mm in patients with AP and 5.8-9.6 mm in EOP.	Immunohistochemistry.	The relative numbers of B cells (CD 20) T cells (CD 3) and macrophages (CD 68) were expressed as a percentage of total for each group. The % of B- lymphocytes was greater in AP sections than in EOP.
Orima et al. 1999	Fourteen patients with moderate to advanced adult periodontitis (AP).	Gingival biopsies were obtained with mean probing pocket depth (PPD) of the biopsy sites: 7.8 $\pm$ 2.8	Immunohistochemistry.	In CD3/CD19 double-stained sections, CD19+ cells were the dominant infiltrating cell type. CD80 and CD86 were extensively expressed on the infiltrating cells in the connective tissues beneath the pocket epithelium. The distribution of CD80 and CD86 was consistent with that of CD19+ B cells.

The cellular infiltrates in the biopsies of the LPP group contained a larger proportion of lymphocytes and, in particular B cells, than was the case in the AP group. The TCR Valpha/Vbeta gene expression in the lesions in the AP group was dominated by Vbeta 17 and in the LPP group by Valpha2.	The higher percent CD86+ cells suggests a predominance of Th2 responses in both healthy/gingivitis and periodontitis tissues. The mean percent CD80+ and CD86+ B cells and macrophages was 1-7% and 8-16%, respectively.	The biopsies of patients with RPP revealed more B cells and plasma cells than treated sites at baseline and after the initial therapy.	The CD30-positive cells (Plasma cells) were the largest phenotype in both the subject-groups. Before therapy, mean counts of all cells were higher in the EOP-Aa group than EOP-non Aa. Following SRP, the numbers of all phenotypes decreased in both groups.
The biopsies were prepared for morphometrical and immunohistochemical analysis and the blood samples prepared for immunohistochemical analysis.	An immunoperoxidase technique was used to examine CD28, CD152, CD80 and CD86 positive cells in gingival biopsies	Immunohistological methods by means of monoclonal antibody.	Immunohistochemistry
Gingival biopsies and a sample of peripheral blood	21 biopsies PPD of≺4 mm Bop+. 26 biopsies classified as a periodontitis group with PPD>4 mm	Biopsies from sites of teeth for extraction and from sites for SRP and then surgery (biopsy).	At baseline 2 biopsies and 2 biopsies form a second quadrant after study subjects had received a full-mouth SRP.
<ul> <li>11 children with signs of periodontal disease (LPP group). 21 adults with advanced periodontal disease: (AP) group.</li> </ul>	Biopsies from 21 healthy/gingivitis and 26 periodontitis subjects.	Ten patients with rapidly progressive periodontitis (RPP) and 5 adult periodontitis (AP).	Ten subjects EO periodontitis harboring Aa (EOP-Aa) and 10 without Aa (EOP- nonAa). Gingival biopsies before and after SRP.
Berglundh et al. 2001	Gemmell et al. 2001	Hillmann et al. 2001	Kleinfelder et al. 2001

B cells were the predominant APC in group 2 and 3 tissues. The percentage of B cells in group 3 periodontitis lesions was increased in comparison with group 1 periodontitis tissues and also in comparison with group 3 healthy/gingivitis sections.	In progressive lesions of periodontal disease, CD-3+ and CD-8+ cell numbers were increased in early stages within the connective tissue, while CD-20+ cell numbers were increased only in late stages.
An immunoperoxidase technique.	Immunohistochemistry
The samples were divided into three groups according to the size of infiltrate: group 1, small infiltrates; group 2, medium infiltrates; group 3, extensive infiltrates.	Biopsies from sites of teeth selected for extraction.
Gingival biopsies from 21 healthy or gingivitis and 25 periodontitis subjects.	8 Healthy control, 10 gingivitis, 10 moderate periodontitis, 10 severe periodontitis
Gemmell et al. 2002	Younes et al. 2009

In the review it was reported that plasma cells and B cells together comprise about 68% of cells in periodontitis lesions. The proportion of B cells was found to be larger than that of all T cells and T helper cells occured in larger numbers than T cytotoxic cells. PMN cells and macrophages were found in fractions of less than 5 % of all cells (Fig. 2).

Fig.2 Distribution of cell proportions in periodontitis lesions calculated from studies reported in Table 1. Plasma cells, B cells, T helper, T cytotoxic, polymorphonuclear (PMN) cells, macrophages and other cells (e.g. mast cells, fibroblast, unidentified cells). (Adapted from Berglundh & Donati 2005)



In the review (Berglundh & Donati 2005) it was further observed that lesions in aggressive and chronic forms of periodontitis exhibit similar features with respect to cellular composition. Differences in disease severity, however, may in both forms of periodontitis affect plasma cell and B cell densities. Thus, the proportions of plasma cells and B cells appear to be larger in lesions obtained from sites representing severe periodontitis than in lesions from areas with moderate or mild periodontitis. The fact that plasma cells develop from B cells and that these two groups of cells dominate in periodontitis lesions calls for the specific attention of the role of B cells in periodontitis.

According to traditional concepts in immunology, B cells serve as a wellcontrolled part of the adaptive host response and act on systems regulated by T cells. Host defense mechanisms of B cells include the transformation into plasma cells and the production of immunoglobulines, which identify and bind to antigens. Recent reports (Lund et al. 2005; Porakishvili et al. 2001), however, indicate that B cells also participate in several other aspects of the host response and contribute to the activation of the immune system. B cells exhibit important immune-regulatory functions, which include direct and indirect effects of other cells through antigen presentation and production of cytokines.

## B-lymphocytes subsets

B cells develop from hematopoietic stem cells initially in the fetal liver before birth and subsequently in bone marrow (Hardy & Hayakawa 2001). Among peripheral mature B cells there are 3 recognized subsets as identified in mouse models and to some extent in humans. First, B-1 cells, or unconventional B-lineage cells, are divided into B-1a and B-1b. The B-1a cells express the surface marker CD5, while B-1b cells do not. Second, B-2 cells, i.e. conventional B cells, are the traditional and representative B cells of the adaptive immune system. Third, marginal zone (MZ) B cells which are noncirculating mature B cells that segregate anatomically in the marginal zone of the spleen (Martin & Kearney 2000, Lopes-Carvalho & Kearney 2004). The B-2 cells participate in T-dependent germinal center (GC) reactions and yield isotype-switched, high-affinity memory cells and long-lived plasma cells. On the other hand, B-1 and MZ B cells are residing in specific anatomical compartments (e.g. peritoneal or pleural cavities and splenic MZ respectively) and are responsible for early antibody responses, which may be T cellindependent as well as frequently polyreactive and with low-affinity.

#### B cells as antigen-presenting cells

The function of B cells in antigen presentation differs to some extent from that of other, so called professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs), e.g. Langerhans cells, macrophages and dendritic cells. Thus, other APCs take up antigens through pinocytosis or internalization of receptors for immune complexes, while B cells internalize antigens by an immunoglobulin-receptor (BCR) in the cell membrane. The antigen is degraded into peptides and subsequently attached to class II molecules of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC II). Finally, the processed antigen is transported to the B cell membrane for presentation to helper T cells (CD4+). B-1a cells may also serve as APCs in the development of an immune response to self-antigens (Liang & Mamula 2000, Porakishvili et al. 2001).

The function of B cells as APCs reported above has also been described in studies on periodontitis. Thus, B cells express class-II antigens upon stimulation and use the capacity of their memory systems in antigen presentation in periodontitis lesions. Mahanonda et al. (2002), who observed a significant upregulation of CD86 and the dendritic cell-marker CD83 on B cells in periodontitis lesions, suggested that B cells may serve as potent APCs in the host response of periodontal disease. Additional evidence on the role of B cells as APCs in periodontitis was provided in study on gingival biopsies obtained from 26 subjects with periodontitis (Gemmel et al. 2002). The

analysis revealed that the B cell group was the predominant type of APCs in the biopsies containing the largest lesions.

## Development and function of B-1a cells

B-1a cells are distinguished from conventional B cells (B-2) by their developmental origin, their surface marker expression and their functions. Compared to B-2 cells, B-1a are long-lived and self-renewing, with reduced immunoglobulin receptor (BCR) diversity and affinity (Kantor et al. 1991). B-1a cells also differ from B-2 by the expression levels of several surface markers, including IgM, IgD, CD5, CD43 and B220 (Berland & Wortis 2002).

It has been suggested that immunoglobulin receptor (BCR) signaling is critical for B-1a cell development. Different damage or mutations that may disrupt immunoglobulin receptor signaling result in considerable reduction in B-1a subsets, while minor effects are seen in B-2 cells. On the other hand, mutations that enhance immunoglobulin receptor signaling result in an increased B-1a population (Hardy & Hayakawa 2001, Berland & Wortis 2002). In other words, B-1a cells require an immunoglobulin receptor-generated signal for development, survival, expansion or phenotype expression. In a recent study it was demonstrated that the expression of the marker CD5 makes B-1a cells surviving following the immunoglobulin receptor interaction (Gary-Gouy et al. 2002). It was suggested that CD5 promotes down regulation of the early immunoglobulin receptor reactions and, hence, prevents B-1a cells from immunoglobulin receptor-mediated cell death. In addition, CD5 also enhances the autocrine production of IL-10 and thereby provides a positive regulatory survival "loop" factor for B-1a cells.

B-1a cells generate substantial amounts of natural IgM. This antibody is in general considered to be both polyreactive and weakly autoreactive and responds to many common pathogen-associated carbohydrate antigens (Carroll & Prodeus 1998, Duan & Morel 2006). Although B-1a cells mainly produce natural IgM antibodies that participate in the adaptive immune response (innate-like immune function) in the protection towards bacterial infection and autoimmunity (Gommerman & Carroll 2000, Kruetzmann et al. 2003, Viau & Zouali 2005, Milner et al. 2005) results from recent studies also demonstrated that B-1a cells have the ability to produce antibodies of the IgA isotype in intestinal tissues. Bos and co-workers (2000) suggested that B-1a derived IgA helps to maintain commensal bacteria in the gut, whereas B-2 derived IgA, due to recognition of different epitopes and/or binding with a higher affinity, contributes to the elimination of pathogenic bacteria.

B-1a cells, which have the capacity to produce auto-antibodies with varying degree of affinity, are found in large numbers in peripheral blood of subjects with e.g. Sjögren's syndrome and rheumatoid arthritis (Burastero et al. 1988, Dauphinee et al. 1988, Youinou et al. 1990). It has been demonstrated that B-1a cells, following activation by T cells, undergo class switch and somatic mutation which result in changes from production of low-affinity auto-antibodies to IgG auto-antibodies with high affinity (Taki et al. 1992, Ebeling et al. 1993). Recent studies have also shown that CpG microbial DNA released during infections may exacerbate autoimmunity by stimulating autoreactive B cells to switch from IgM to a more pathogenic IgG isotype independent from T cells (He et al. 2004). In addition, other characteristics, such as the production of high level of IL-10 (O'Garra et al.1992, Stein et al. 1997, Gary-Gouy et al. 2002, Mocellin et al. 2004) and enhanced antigen presentation capacities (Mohan et al.1998, Liang & Mamula 2000,

27

Porakishvili et al. 2001), as already discussed, have implicated B-1a cells in autoimmunity.

### B-1a cells and periodontitis

The presence of B-1a cells in periodontitis patients has been demonstrated in several reports. Afar et al. (1992) collected blood samples from 18 patients with varying severity of periodontitis and from 16 healthy control subjects. Flow cytometry analysis revealed that B-1a cells occurred in significantly larger amounts in periodontitis patients than in controls. Similar results were reported by Berglundh et al. (2002). They analyzed B-1a cells in peripheral blood of 3 different groups of subjects; 22 subjects with severe generalized chronic periodontitis, 7 children with localized aggressive periodontitis and 26 healthy controls. The proportions of B-1a cells were 5-6 times greater in the periodontitis groups than in the controls and it was stated that up to 40-50 % of all circulating B (CD19+) cells were positive to the additional marker of CD5, i.e. the characteristics of B-1a cells. In this context it is interesting to note that systemic levels of B-1a cells seem to be a marker of susceptibility to periodontitis rather than an indicator of the presence of the disease (Berglundh et al. 1999). Berglundh et al. (1999) in a study on local and systemic features of host response in chronic periodontitis before and after non-surgical periodontal therapy, found that the elevated numbers of B-1a cells did not decline after therapy despite the sufficient clinical signs of healing.

Large amounts of B-1a cells were detected in the periodontitis lesions of chronic periodontitis patients in the study by Berglundh et al. (2002). This observation was in agreement with earlier findings by Sugawara et al. (1992) and Aramaki et al. (1998). They found larger amounts of B-1a cells in the

gingival lesions than in peripheral blood and suggested that B-1a cells are activated in periodontitis lesions.

#### Interleukin-10 and periodontitis

Interleukin-10 is a multifunctional cytokine with diverse effect on most hemopoietic cell types. It is produced by several cell sources such as monocytes/macrophages, dendritic cells (DC), B-lymphocytes (particularly the CD5+ B cells), various subsets of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Moore et al. 2001, Mocellin et al. 2004) and also by human keratinocytes (Powrie et al. 1997). The biological activities of IL-10 were historically confined to the suppression of pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by e.g. Th-1 cells (IL-2, INF-gamma, TNF) (Fiorentino et al. 1989), but today it is known that IL-10 has several effects in immunoregulation and inflammation. Thus, IL-10 inhibits MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecule expression on monocytes and macrophages and inhibit macrophage microbicidal activity by downregulating the production of reactive oxygen and reactive nitrogen intermediates, which are involved in macrophage killing mechanisms (Moore et al. 2001). Other reports suggest that IL-10 may not only exhibit inhibitory and anti-inflammtory properties (Lalami et al 1997, Borish 1998). Thus, IL-10 stimulates B cell proliferation, differentiation, antibody production and isotype switch (Beebe et 2002). IL-10 enhances survival of normal human B cells (depending on their activation state), which correlates with increased expression of the anti-apoptotic protein bcl-2 (Levy & Brouet 1994) Furthermore, IL-10 promotes proliferation of autoreactive B cells and autoantibody production. Indeed, several autoimmune diseases have been associated with increased levels of IL-10.

The presence of IL-10 in periodontitis lesions has been reported previously. Yamazaki and co-workers (1997) applied a reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction technique to determine the level of mRNA for interferon gamma (y-IFN), interleukin 4 (IL-4), IL-10, IL-12 and IL-13 in gingival biopsies and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) obtained from patients with chronic periodontitis. The mean expression of y-IFN was significantly higher in PBMC than in gingival tissues, while the expression of IL-10 mRNA was higher in gingival tissues than in PBMC. Aramaki and coworkers (1998) analyzed gingival biopsies from 10 periodontitis patients. It was observed that the proportion of autoreactive B lymphocytes (B-1a cells) and the amount of IL-6 and IL-10 were significantly higher in the inflamed gingival tissues than in peripheral blood from the healthy subjects. Increased levels of IL-10 together with large proportions of B-1a cells was also reported in a study on type 1 diabetics by Stein et al. (1997). It was suggested that periodontal pathogens induce a hyperactive IL-10 response leading to proliferation of B-1a cells and to autoantibody production.

Lappin and co-workers (2001) analyzed the occurrence of different cytokines in periodontitis lesions. Tissue biopsies were retrieved from 10 patients with chronic periodontitis and 10 subjects with aggressive forms of periodontal disease. Polyclonal monospecific antibodies and oligonucleotide probes were used to detect cells expressing IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-15, TNF  $\alpha$  and  $\gamma$ -IFN and it was reported that the most widely expressed cytokine in tissues was IL-10. Furthermore, Nakajima et al. (2005) reported that the expression of IL-10 was higher in periodontitis than in gingivitis lesions. Thus, IL-10 expression is associated with severe periodontitis and appears to be one important cytokine in the regulation of periodontitis lesions.

#### CD14 and periodontitis

The CD14 molecule is a glycoprotein expressed primarily on surface of monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils and gingival fibroblast (mCD14) and is involved in the process of cellular response to bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) produced by gram-negative bacteria. A soluble form of CD14 (sCD14) is present in serum and derives both from enzymatically cleaved glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-anchored mCD14 and from secretion of CD14 (Haziot et 1988, Ulevitch & Tobias 1995).

The presence of both the membrane-bound (mCD14) and the soluble (sCD14) forms of the CD14 receptor has been demonstrated in subjects with periodontal disease. Jin & Darveau (2001) demonstrated that subjects with low levels of sCD14 showed greater mean PD and higher percentages of sites with PD $\geq$  5.0mm, indicating a negative correlation between PD and sCD14 concentrations. Similar results were obtained in another study on antigen presenting cells (APCs) in gingival tissues of different clinical status and inflammatory infiltrates (Gemmell et al.2002). The percentage of the CD14+ cells was more conspicuous in tissue samples with small infiltrates as compared to those with a large ICT. Jin and co-workers (2004) investigated the in vivo expression profile and levels of mCD14 in healthy and diseased gingival tissues. Immunohistochemistry was applied for the detection of the membrane-bound CD14 receptor in 22 biopsies from chronic periodontitis patients and in 7 periodontally healthy tissues used as controls. The mCD14+ cells were mainly confined to the gingival epithelium-connective tissue interface and the expression levels in periodontally healthy subjects were significantly higher than in subjects with periodontitis. The same research group further evaluated the correlation between the expression of the lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP), the mCD14 receptor and the Tolllike receptors (TLR) 2 and 4 in gingival tissues from 43 subjects with chronic

periodontitis and 15 periodontally healthy controls (Ren et al. 2005). While the LBP was confined to the gingival epithelium, the mCD14 was observed around the epithelium-connective tissue interface. The TLR2 was detected in periodontal diseased tissues both in pocket epithelium and in the connective tissues, whereas the TLR4 was predominantly found in connective tissue. In the healthy tissues a weak expression of TLR2 and no presence of TLR4 was detected. A positive correlation was found between the LBP and the mCD14 in both detection and expression levels. The concentration levels of LBP and mCD14 were again significantly higher in healthy individuals than in subjects with periodontitis as reported previously (Jin et al 2004).

#### Bcl2 protein and periodontitis

Apoptosis, the process of programmed cell death, plays a central role in the immune system in both the maintenance of self-tolerance and homeostatic control of lymphocyte populations. In lymphocytes, apoptosis is mostly recognized to be induced by two major pathways, one of which is associated with mitochondrial permeability changes that lead to the release of cytochrome c activating a cysteine protease called caspase-9 responsible for the DNA cleavage, nuclear fragmentation and eventually cell death. Bcl2, member of the Bcl-protein family specifically prevents this pathway of apoptosis by blocking the release of cytochrome c (Marsden & Strasser 2005). Recent publications (Gamonal et al. 2001, Bulut et al. 2006) reported on association between the Bcl2 proteins and forms of chronic and aggressive periodontitis. Gamonal et al. (2001) studied the apoptotic markers in gingival tissue of chronic periodontitis subjects and healthy controls. The expression FasL, Bcl2 Caspase-3, Fas, and p53 was determined of by immunohistochemistry. The results demonstrated that only Bcl2 positive cells were significantly higher in biopsies from periodontitis patients than in

Introduction

control tissues. This finding was confirmed in a recent study by Bulut et al. (2006). They analyzed clinical features and apoptosis proteins (i.e. p53, Bcl2, Caspase-3) in gingival tissues retrieved from 8 subjects with generalized aggressive periodontitis and 10 controls. The immunohistochemical analysis showed that while the expression of caspase-3 and p53 did not differ between diseased and healthy subjects, the frequency of Bcl2 positive cells was significantly higher in lesions from subjects with generalized aggressive periodontitis than in controls.

#### Susceptibility to periodontitis

Inflammatory and immune reactions to microbial plaque are the predominant features of periodontitis. The host response operates in the gingival tissues to protect against the local microbial challenge and prevents micro-organisms from spreading or invading into the tissues. Epidemiological studies (Loe et al. 1986, Baelum et al. 1986, van der Velden et al. 2006) revealed that differences in periodontal disease among individuals could not be explained by differences in oral hygiene alone and that not everybody is equally susceptibile to periodontitis. Periodontitis is considered to be a complex multifactorial disease where the interaction of multiple genetic and environmental components results into disease expression. It is recognized that complex diseases, such as periodontitis, are associated with variations in multiple genes, each playing a limited role in the expression of the disease and therefore considered disease-modifying genes (Loos et al 2008). Diseasemodifying genes differ from major disease genes, which are strongly associated with the expression of the disease.

Evidence for a genetic influence on periodontitis comes from multiple sources including (i) familial aggregation and formal genetic studies of early-onset

33

forms of periodontitis (Boughman et al. 1992, Marazita et al. 1994) and (ii) twin studies of adult periodontitis (Michalowicz et al. 1991, Corey et al. 1993, Michalowicz et al 2000). Additional support for a genetic contribution for periodontitis emerged from the identification of certain genetic polymorphisms that correlate with immune response phenotypes in certain groups of periodontitis patients.

#### Genetic polymorphisms and periodontitis

Genetic polymorphisms have historically been used as genetic markers to locate disease-causing genes through linkage studies. However there is increasing appreciation that they may directly influence complex common diseases via a direct effect on gene function. By definition a genetic polymorphism is a nucleotide sequence at particular position (locus) in the DNA molecules exhibiting at least two variants (alleles) that occur in > 1% of a population (Schork et al. 2000). Thus, if the locus is bi-allelic, the most common variant among them occurs in < 99% of the population at large. There are a number of different types of nucleotide structures in the human genome that fits to the definition of genetic polymorphism i.e. *minisatellite* variable number tandem repeat (VNTR), microsatellite polymorphisms (STRP) and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP). A single nucleotide polymorphism is a variation of a single nucleotide at a particular site in the genome. Since each pair of chromosomes (23 pairs in a normal human) is composed by one from the mother and one from the father, a SNP, in a specific locus, defines two alleles for which there could be three possible combinations (genotypes) of the two alleles amongst individuals in a given population. A single nucleotide polymorphism may have important biological functions. For example, a SNP located in the promoter region (the region regulating the transcription activity) of the gene may influence the mRNA

expression and possibly the amount of the related protein resulting in biological effects. A SNP in the coding region (the region that codes for amino acids forming a protein) of the gene may result in substitution of amino acids and thereby alter the protein structure and its function.

In a review on putative genetic risk factors for periodontitis, Loos et al. (2005) reported that researchers have focused on genetic polymorphisms related to different aspects of the host immunity. A summary of candidate genes and related proteins as putative risk factors for periodontitis is presented in Table 4.

Gene	Coded protein	Gene	Coded protein
ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme	IL4	Interleukin-4
CARD15 (NOD2)	Caspase recruitment domain-15	IL6	Interleukin-6
CCR5	Chemokine receptor-5	IL10	Interleukin-10
CD14	CD-14	LTA	Lymphotoxin-a
ER2	Estrogen receptor-2	MMP1	Matrix metalloproteinase-1
ET1	Endothelin-1	MMP3	Matrix metalloproteinase-3
FBR	Fibrinogen	MMP9	Matrix metalloproteinase-9
FcγRIIa	Fc γ receptor IIa	МРО	Myeloperoxidase
FcγRIIb	Fc γ receptor IIb	NAT2	N-acetyltransferase-2
FcyRIIIa	Fc γ receptor IIIa	PAI1	Plasminogen-activator- inhibitor-1
FcyRIIIb	Fc γ receptor IIIb	RAGE	Receptor adv. glycation end products
FPR1	N-formilpeptide receptor-1	TGFB	Transforming growth factor-β
IFNGR1	Interferon γ receptor-1	TIMP2	Tissue inhibitor of MMP
IL1A	Interleukin-1a	TLR2	Toll-like receptor-2
IL1B	Interleukin-1ß	TLR4	Toll-like receptor-4
IL1RN	Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist	TNFA	Tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$
IL2	Interleukin-2	TNFR2	Tumor necrosis factor receptor-2

Table 4. Candidate genes and related proteins for which gene polymorphisms were examined as putative risk factors for periodontitis. (Adapted from Loos et al. 2005)

Results from several reviews (Kinane et al. 2005, Loos et al. 2005, Shapira et al. 2005) on gene polymorphisms associated with periodontitis revealed that data from studies on the same gene polymorphism were not always consistent, which may reflect the complexity and heterogeneity of the genetic influence in periodontitis. Thus, suggestions on how to improve the quality of
such studies were highlighted. Overall findings, in these reviews (Kinane et al. 2005, Loos et al. 2005, Shapira et al. 2005) were that studies on gene polymorphisms associated with periodontitis were underpowered for a proper interpretation, had different patient selection, different diagnostic criteria and heterogeneity in the population. Additionally established co-variates such as age, gender and smoking are often not adequately addressed, while a multivariate statistical analysis may better reveal the relevance of the polymorphisms investigated.

#### IL10 gene polymorphisms and Periodontitis

The human IL10 (hIL10) gene is located on the chromosome 1 at 1q31-32, and it is composed of five exons. At the promoter region, three single nucleotide polymorphisms at position -592 (C $\rightarrow$ A), -819 (C $\rightarrow$ T) and -1082  $(G \rightarrow A)$  (also recognized -597, -824, -1087 respectively) as well as two microsatellites (CA repeat polymorphisms) IL10.G and IL10.R. approximately at position -1200 and -4000, have been reported (Eskdale and Gallagher 1995, Eskdale et al. 1996, Turner et al 1997). The SNPs are in strong linkage disequilibrium forming three *haplotypes* that are common in Caucasian populations; GCC, ACC and ATA (Turner et al. 1997). A difference in IL-10 secretion has been demonstrated between the different IL10-1082 (-1087) alleles. Following concanavalin A (Con A) stimulation of peripheral blood (PB) lymphocytes in vitro, carriers of the allele G showed significantly higher IL-10 production than carriers of allele A (Turner et al. 1997). When the relative transcriptional activities of the different haplotypes were compared, the haplotype ATA had a significantly weaker activity than the GCC haplotype (Crawley et al. 1999). In the same study, IL-10 production after LPS stimulation in whole blood cultures was also analysed, and

accordingly, the ATA/ATA genotype was associated with the lowest production. It is thought that the reported SNPs at the promoter of the *IL10* gene occur within important regulatory regions, and that they may alter the structure of the transcription factor binding sites. Some factor-binding sites that might be involved in the regulation of the IL-10 were identified in the *IL10* promoter region (Kube et al. 1995, Eskdale et al 1997, Kube et al. 2001). In a recent study (Larsson et al. 2008) it was demonstrated that PU.1 and Spi-B transcription factors bound the sequence around the -1082 (-1087) position in the *IL10* promoter region. In the same study it was also observed that the Sp1 transcription factor only bound to the G-allele of this site and that this binding resulted in an increase of the promoter activity following lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation of B cells.

*IL10* promoter polymorphisms (-1082, -819 and -592) have been associated with other diseases i.e. severe forms of rheumatoid arthritis, SLE, primary Sjögren's syndrome (Huiziga et al. 2000, Hulkkonen et al. 2001, Nath et al 2005) The association between *IL10* gene polymorphisms and periodontitis was also examined (Table 5). The relevance of investigating the *IL10* gene polymorphisms in periodontitis is related to its biological activities in the inflammatory and immune response, particularly in relation to large proportion of B-lymphocytes in periodontitis lesion.

38

Results	No association	No association	No association	Association with the -597 SNP and the -824 SNP	Association with the -597 SNP	Association with the ATA haplotype	Association with the -592 & with ATA haplotype
Ethnicity of subjects	Caucasian population	Japanese population	Caucasian population	Mixed population (77% Caucasians background)	Turkish population	Caucasian population	Chinese & Taiwan population
Sample	77 subjects GEOP 102 controls	34 CP subjects 18 EOP subjects 52 controls	<ul><li>23 CP subjects</li><li>18 AP subjects</li><li>21 controls</li></ul>	67 CP subjects (31 moderate, 36 severe) 43 controls	75 CP subjects 73 controls	27 CP subjects 32 AP subjects 34 controls	145 CP subjects 65 AP subjects 126 Controls
<i>IL-10</i> gene nolvmornhism	Microsatellite IL10.R IL10.G	Haplotype of the - 1082, -819, -592 gene polymorphisms	SNPs -597, -824	SNPs - 597, -824, -1087 & haplotype	SNPs -597, -824	SNPs -597, -824, -1087 & haplotype	SNPs -592, -819, -1082 & haplotype
Periodontal diagnosis	General Early Onset Periodontitis	Chronic perio. (moderate to advanced) & EOP	Chronic & Aggressive periodontitis	Chronic periodontitis	Severe Chronic periodontitis	Chronic & Aggressive Periodontitis	Chronic & Aggressive periodontitis
Reference	Kinane et al 1999	Yamazaki et al. 2001	Gonzales et al. 2002	Scarel- Caminaga et al. 2004	Sumer et al. 2007	Reichert et al. 2008	Hu et al. 2009

**Table 5** Studies on IL-I0 gene polymorphisms in Periodontitis

### CD14 gene polymorphism and periodontitis

The *CD14* gene is on the chromosome 5 at the location 5q31.1. It has been demonstrated (Baldini et al. 1999) that C to T transition at position -159 (also called -260) is related to the production of the sCD14. Thus, subjects with the homozygous TT genotype exhibited significantly higher sCD14 levels then carriers of CC and CT genotypes. This finding indicated that variants in the promoter region of the *CD14* gene may change the production of CD14 and, thus, influenced, the activation of Th2- to Th1 type cells in the response to bacterial challenge. The -260 *CD14* gene polymorphism has previously been associated with Crohn's disease (Klein et al 2002). The *CD14* gene polymorphisms have been studied in association also with periodontitis (Table 6).

### TNFA gene polymorphism and periodontitis

The *TNFA* gene is located on chromosome 6 within the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) gene cluster at the location 6p21.3. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the gene encoding TNF- $\alpha$  are manly studied in the promoter region at positions -1031, -863, -367, -308, -238, but also in the coding region in the first intron at position +489. The tumor necrosis factor (TNF) is an important mediator in inflammatory reactions and appears to play a central role in the pathogenesis of severe chronic inflammatory diseases (Beutler 1989). Differences in the rate of production of TNF have been demonstrated and a familial ability to produce higher or lower cytokine levels seems to exist (Pociot et al. 1993). The TNF synthesis may be influenced by the presence of certain gene polymorphisms (Duff 1994, Wilson & di Giovine 1995). Some consistent results on association of *TNFA* gene polymorphisms with diseases are reported for infectious diseases particularly malaria (Beyley

et al. 2004). *TNFA* gene polymorphisms were also investigated in association with periodontitis (Table 7).

#### IL-4R gene polymorphism and periodontitis

Interleukin-4 (IL-4) is a cytokine that is involved in the proliferation and activation of B-lymphocytes. This cytokine can rescue B-lymphocytes from apoptosis and enhance their survival, thus playing a role in promoting B-lymphocytes mediated autoimmunity (Illera et al. 1993, Mori et al. 2000, Singh 2003). It is produced by T helper 2 cells and binds to the IL-4 receptor (IL-4R) of B cells (for review see Gemmell et al. 1997; Gemmell et al. 2002). The *IL4RA* gene is on chromosome 16 at location 6p12.1-p11.2. Variations in the *IL4RA* gene have been associated with different human disorders (Hershey et al. 1997, Kruse et al. 1999, Mitsuyasu et al. 1999). The gene polymorphism at the position 551 at promoter region was shown to be associated also with SLE and primary Sjögren's syndrome (pSS) (Youn et al. 2000). No data are available concerning the possible association of *IL-4RA* gene polymorphisms and periodontal disease.

	1 the -159, 9 -1359	on of older and	e C allele	<b>F</b> genotype	
Results	No association with association with the (GG genotype)	Different distribution genotypes between younger subjects	Association with th in female	Association with T	
Ethnicity of subjects	Caucasian population	Japanese population	Caucasian population	Caucasian population	
Sample	135 CP (36 moderate, 99 severe)	163 CP 104 controls	70 CP 75 controls	100 severe CP 99 controls	
<i>CD14</i> gene polymorphism	SNPs - 159, - 1359	SNP -159	SNP -159	SNP -159	
Periodontal diagnosis	Chronic periodontitis	Chronic periodontitis	Chronic periodontitis	Chronic periodontitis	
Reference	Holla et al 2002	Yamazaki et al. 2003	Folwaczny et al. 2004	Laine et al. 2005	

Table 6. Studies on CD14 gene polymorphisms in Periodontitis

Table 7. Studies on TNFA gene polymorphisms in Periodontitis

Results	No association	Association with <i>TNFA</i> allele1 (CP> Gingivitis subjects)	No association	No association	No association	No association	No association
Ethnicity of subjects	Caucasian population	Caucasian population	Japanese population	Caucasian population 81% non-Caucasian 19%	Japanese population	Caucasian population	Brazilian population
Sample	32 subjects CP 32 controls	20 subjects CP 20 Gingivitis 45 controls	64 subjects G- EOP, 64 controls	90 subjects CP 264 controls	64 subjects AP 64 controls	81 subjects CP 80 controls	30 subjects GAP 70 controls
<i>TNFA</i> gene polymorphism	SNPs -238, -308	SNP -308	SNPs -238, -308, - 1031	SNPs -238, -308, - 367, +489	SNPs - 1031, -308, - 238	SNP -308	SNP -308
Periodontal diagnosis	Chronic periodontitis	Chronic periodontitis	Generalized EOP	Chronic periodontitis	Aggressive periodontitis	Chronic periodontitis	Generalized Aggressive periodontitis
Reference	Galbraith et al. 1998	Galbraith et al. 1999	Endo et al 2001	Craandijk et al. 2002	Soga et al. 2003	Folwaczny et al. 2004	Maria de Freitas et al 2007

# Aims

The main objectives of the present studies were:

- 1. to study the association of an interleukin *(IL)10* gene polymorphism (G to A transition at the -1087 position) with severe chronic periodontitis.
- to study the association of gene polymorphisms related to some immune regulation components (G-308A *TNFA*, Q551R *IL4RA* and C-159T *CD14*) with severe chronic periodontitis.
- 3. to study the local expression of IL-10 and membrane-bound CD14 (mCD14) in relation to the -1087 *IL10* and -159 *CD14* gene polymorphisms in subjects with chronic periodontitis.
- to study the correlation between inflammatory cells and functional markers in gingival lesions obtained from subjects with severe chronic periodontitis.
- 5. to study the reaction of B-1a cells to *de novo* plaque formation in subjects who were treated for severe chronic periodontitis.

## **Material and Methods**

### Study population (study I and II)

The regional human ethics review board, University of Gothenburg; Sweden approved the protocol of both studies. Prior to enrollment all subjects received information regarding the purpose of the studies and gave their written consent. Two groups of Caucasian subjects were included. The test group consisted of 60 patients (28 females and 32 males, aged 36 - 74 years; mean  $54.5 \pm 8.5$ ) with generalized, severe chronic periodontitis (Consensus Report, 1999). The patients were recruited from the Clinic of Periodontics, Gothenburg and exhibited bone loss >50% at all teeth. Prior to periodontal therapy they all had probing pocket depths (PPD) >6 mm and bleeding on probing (BoP) at >80% of the proximal sites. Sets of intraoral radiographs were obtained using a standardized parallel technique (Eggen 1969). In the radiographs, the distance between the cemento-enamel junction (CEJ) and the most coronal level of the bone crest (BC) was assessed at the mesial and distal aspects of each tooth. For details regarding the radiographic measurements, see Berglundh et al. (1998).

Thirty-nine periodontally healthy Caucasian subjects (24 females and 15 males) between 35 - 78 years of age (mean  $51.0 \pm 10.9$ ) were also recruited (Control group). The subjects in this group demonstrated normal radiographic bone levels, i.e. a distance of < 3 mm between the CEJ and BC at > 95% of the proximal tooth sites.

### *Study population* (study III-V)

The regional human ethics review boards, University of Gothenburg, Sweden and University of Basel, Switzerland approved the protocols of studies III and IV. The regional human ethics review board, University of Basel approved the protocol of study V. Prior to enrollment all subjects received information regarding the purpose of the studies and gave their written consent.

In **study III** fifty-three Caucasian subjects (23 males and 20 females; mean age:  $53.8 \pm 9$ , range: 42 to 65 years) were recruited from the Clinic of Periodontics, Public Dental Services, Gothenburg, Sweden. Ten patients (6 male and 4 female mean age  $55.9\pm 7$ , range 43-67 years) were enrolled from the Clinic of Reconstructive Dentistry, University of Basel in Switzerland.

In **study IV** thirty-eight Caucasian subjects volunteered. Twenty-eight subjects were recruited from the Clinic of Periodontics, Public Dental Services Gothenburg (15 male and 13 female mean age  $52.2\pm7.5$ , range 43-69 years). Ten patients (6 male and 4 female mean age  $55.9\pm7$ , range 43-67 years) were enrolled from the Clinic of Reconstructive Dentistry, University of Basel in Switzerland.

In **study V** fifteen Caucasian subjects with generalized, severe chronic periodontitis (10 male and 5 female mean age  $56.1\pm 8.4$ , range 38-69 years) were enrolled from the Clinic of Reconstructive Dentistry, University of Basel in Switzerland.

All patients (study III, IV, V) had generalized, severe chronic periodontitis and exhibited >50% bone loss at all remaining teeth, probing pocket depth (PPD) >6 mm and bleeding on probing (BoP+) at >80% of the proximal sites prior to periodontal therapy.

## Blood sampling, DNA separation and genotype detection (study I-III)

Samples of peripheral blood were obtained by venipuncture from the arm vein of each subject. The 20 ml blood sample collected in EDTA tubes was given a code and was stored in  $-70^{\circ}$  until further processing.

DNA was isolated from EDTA blood by modified "salting-out" method without SDS as described by Padyukov et al. (2001). Final preparations were stored at -20° C until used as template DNA for PCR.

Detection of the -1087 *IL10* polymorphism (**study I**) and Q551R *IL4RA* polymorphism (**study II**) was performed as described previously (Padyukov et al., 2001, Hytonen et al., 2004). Genotyping of -308 *TNFA* and -159 *CD14* was not previously published. For all methods, specific primers for generic PCR amplification were used with subsequent cleavage of the amplicons with restriction endonuclease (Table 8). Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) was performed in NOVEX Xcell MiniCell in either a 4 -20% gradient or in continuous 20% Tris-Borate-EDTA gels with following developing by silver staining.

Polymorphism	rs number	Primers	Enzyme
G-1087A <i>IL10</i>	rs1800896	5'AAGGCAACACTACTAAGGCTTCCTT3' 5'TAAATATCCTCAAAGTTCC3'	EcoNI
G -308A TNFA	rs1800629	3'ACACAAGCATCAAGGATACCCCTCAC3' 5'CTCCCCCTCAACGGACTCAGC3'	BsmF11
Q551R IL4RA	rs1801275	5'TGGCCGCACAGGTGGCAGGTAA3' 5'TCGGCCCCCACCAGTGGCTACC3'	BsmFI
C-159T CD14	rs5744433	5'AGGCTTAGGCTCCCGAGTCAA3' 5'TCCTACACAGCGGCACC3'	HpyCH4 III

Table 8. Description of genetic markers and genotyping procedures

## Biopsy sampling (study III-V)

In study III and IV a gingival biopsy was obtained from one randomly selected diseased site (probing pocket depth > 6mm and bleeding on probing positive) from each subject.

In study V gingival biopsies were obtained from each patient at two different time points; (i) at baseline (healed sites) after a 6-month period of meticulous

plaque control (PPD<4mm and BoP-) following periodontal surgery and (ii) after a 3-week period of plaque accumulation. The biopsies were retrieved as reported in Zitzmann et al. (2005). Following local anesthesia, two parallel incisions, 4mm apart, were made through the soft-tissue until bone contact was achieved. The two incisions were connected with a perpendicular incision placed about 4mm apical of the gingival margin. The biopsies were carefully removed and prepared for immunohistochemical analysis.

## Immunohistochemical processing (study III-V)

The tissue samples were rinsed in saline and subsequently embedded (O.C.T. Compound; Tissue Tek®, Miles, Elkhart, IN), snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored in -70°C. From each tissue portion, 5µm thick sections were prepared in a cryostat and exposed to immunohistochemical staining. A panel of monoclonal antibodies was used and a standard avidin-biotin peroxidase (ABC) method (Hsu et al. 1981) was applied for the staining (Vectastain® Elite® ABC Kit, Vector® Vector laboratories, Inc.CA). A diaminobenzidine (DAB) peroxidase kit (Vector® Vector laboratories, Inc.CA) was used as chromogene and the sections were counter stained with methyl green (Vector® Vector laboratories, Inc. CA). In each staining performed, negative controls without the primary antibodies were included. Sections of human tonsils were used as positive controls. Immunohistochemical staining for IL-10 was performed according to a method described by Whiteland et al. (1997).

The identification of the autoreactive B cells (**study IV**, **V**) was performed as previously reported by Berglundh et al. (2002). Texas Red Avidin and FITC Avidin (Fluorescent Avidin Sample Kit® Vector Laboratories, Ca., USA) were used in a double staining to detect CD5 and CD19 positive cells. The sections were dried and mounted with Vectashield<sup>®</sup> mounting medium with

48

4,6 diamidino-2 phenylindole (DAPI) (Vector Laboratories, Ca., USA) to preserve fluorescence and to counterstain cell nuclei.

The panel of antibodies used with their isotype and dilutions are presented in Table 9. The CD3 monoclonal antibody was used to identify all T cells, while CD4 and CD8 monoclonal antibodies identified T-helper cells and T-cytotoxic cells, respectively. The CD19 marker detected B-cells and CD138 identified plasma cells. Monoclonal antibodies were also used to identify elastase (Neutrophil protease), CD14 (specific receptor for lipopolysaccharides) and Bcl2 oncoprotein (blocker of apoptotic cell death).

Table 9. Specificity of mouse anti-human monoclonal antibodies used for immunohistochemical analisys.

Antibodies (clone)	Specificity	Dilutions	Isotype	Study
CD3 (T3-4B5)*	pan T cells	1:50	IgG1	III
CD4 (MT310)*	T-helper cells	1:20	IgG	IV
CD8 (DK25)*	cytotoxic T-cells	1:50	IgG1	IV
CD19 (HD37) <sup>*</sup>	B cells	1:25	IgG1	III, IV
CD5 (D23)*	T & B-cell subsets	1:50	IgG1	IV
CD138 (B-54) <sup>#</sup>	Plasma cells	1:500	IgG1	IV
Elastase (NP57) <sup>*</sup>	Neutrophils	1:400	IgG1	IV
CD14 (TÜK4) <sup>*</sup>	LPS receptor	1:20	IgG2a	III, IV
Bcl2 (124)*	Anti-Apoptosis protein	1:100	IgG1	IV
IL-10 (23738.111) <sup>§</sup>	Interleukin-10	1:100	IgG2b	III

IgG = Immunoglobulin G

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup>DakoCytomation, Glostrup, Denmark

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>#</sup>Serotec, Oxford, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>§</sup> R&D Systems Europe, Oxon, U.K.

## Histological analysis (study III-V)

The histological analysis of the inflammatory cell infiltrate was performed using a Leitz DM-RBE microscope equipped with a Leica Q-500 MC® image system (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany). The size of the infiltrated connective tissue (ICT) was measured using a mouse cursor (magnification x50). For the assessment of the density of labelled cells a point counting procedure was applied as previously described (Liljenberg et al. 1994, Fransson et al. 1999, Zitzmann et al. 2005). Thus, a 400-point lattice was superimposed over the tissue area at a magnification x400 and the number of cross points on positive cells was counted. In addition, the number of positive cross-points was related to the total number of grids used to analyse the sections varied between 2 and 8 depending on the size of the ICT. The assessment of the IL-10 positive cells (**study III**) was performed in two compartments: one within the ICT and one zone (~200  $\mu$ m wide) in the periphery of the ICT (IL-10 per).

A fluorescence microscope (Leica DM-RXA, Wetzlar, Germany) equipped with a COHU CCD camera and connected to a Leica Q-Fish software (Cambridge UK) for microphotography was used to obtain digital images from sections that were double stained for CD5 and CD19 (**study IV, V**). Digitized images from the lesion including cells stained with FITC and Texas Red were captured and composite images were obtained by integrating the Texas Red (CD5) and FITC (CD19) signals. Cells were identified as positive when presenting either the red (CD5) or the green (CD19) marker on their cellular membranes. Cells positive for both markers (CD5 and CD19) were disclosed by the presence of both the green and the red colour (B-1a cells). Cells positive for both markers (CD5+CD19) were related to the overall number of CD19 positive cells and expressed as percentage as previously reported (Berglundh et al 2002).

## **Data Analysis**

In study I and II the distribution of frequencies of genotypes for each group was compared using the Chi-Square ( $c^2$ ) test, while the frequencies of allele carriage and the allele frequency in the test and control group were compared using the Fisher's Exact Test. All analyses, except for the allele frequency assessment, were performed using the subject as the statistical unit, i.e. n=60 (test; severe chronic periodontitis) and n=39 (control), respectively. Comparisons of allele frequencies were performed using the chromosome as the statistical unit. Relative risks, i.e. case-control estimates and confidence limits were also calculated. All genetic markers in the studies were found to be in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

In study III, IV and V, mean values and standard deviations were calculated for each variable using the subject as the experimental unit. In study III, differences in the proportions (%) of the various positive cells markers in the ICT between the different genotype groups were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the Student-Newman-Keuls test. In study IV, correlations between the different percentages of cell markers were analyzed by pairwise correlation analysis (Pearson correlation coefficients). In study V, differences in cell densities between baseline (healed) sites and sites representing 3 weeks of plaque accumulation were analyzed using the Student's *t*-test for paired observations. In all studies P values <0.05 were considered as significant.

# Results

#### Study I and II

#### Radiographic observations

The amount of bone loss assessed in the radiographs from the group of subjects with chronic periodontitis varied between 7.7 and 13.6 mm (mean 9.0  $\pm$  1.4 mm). The mean number of remaining teeth was 21.2  $\pm$  4.6 in the periodontitis group and 27.3  $\pm$  1.4 in the control group.

### *Genotype frequencies*

The distribution of genotypes of the gene polymorphisms examined (i.e. G-1087A *IL10*, G-308A *TNFA*, Q551R *IL4RA* and C-159T *CD14*) within the chronic periodontitis group did not differ from that in control group. The distribution of genotypes within the fraction of non-smokers, however, differed between the test and control groups of subjects in relation to the G-1087A *IL10* gene polymorphism (Fig.3). A significantly larger proportion of subjects in the chronic periodontitis group exhibited the homozygous genotype GG than subjects in the control group (61% vs. 21%). The homozygous AA genotype, on the other hand, occurred in a larger fraction among controls than in subjects with chronic periodontitis (10% vs. 35%). In the periodontally healthy group there was a higher proportion (44% vs. 29%) of the heterozygous (GA) genotype than in the diseased group. The analysis of the distribution of the genotypes within the fraction of non-smokers for all other gene polymorphisms (i.e. G-308A *TNFA*, Q551R *IL4RA* and C-159T *CD14*) did not reveal significant differences.



Fig. 3 Distribution of IL-10 genotypes in non-smokers

\* indicates  $p < 0.05 X^2$ 

## Frequencies of the allele carriage

The frequency of the allele carriage, i.e. the proportion of subjects in the two groups carrying one of the alleles was calculated for each gene polymorphism.

While the frequencies of the G allele carriage in study I did not show significant differences between the chronic periodontitis subjects and the healthy controls when evaluating the entire cohort, the analysis of the non-smoking category of subjects revealed that the G allele was found in 90% of the diseased individuals and in 65% of the healthy subjects. This difference was statistically significant (p<0.005 Fisher's Exact test) (Fig.4). Consequently, a significantly larger proportion of subjects with the AA genotype (i.e. no allele G) was found in the control group than in the test group (35% vs. 10%).

Fig.4 *IL10* gene polymorphism. Percentage of subjects carrying any or no allele G in non-smokers of chronic periodontitis group and control group.



\* indicates p<0.05 Fisher's Exact test

The case-control estimates, i.e. the relative risk for the variables GG genotype and G-allele are presented in Table 10. The GG genotype revealed an odds ratio of 2.58 for all subjects in the two groups, while in the non-smoking fraction the ratio reached 6.11. The corresponding estimates for the G allele frequency was for all individuals 1.46 (all subjects) and 5.09 (non-smokers).

Table 10. IL10 gene polymorphism.	The case-control	estimate for the	variables GG-
genotype and G-allele			

Variable	p-value	Odds ratio	95% confidence limit
GG-genotype (all subjects; n=99)	0.049	2.58	1.01-6.56
GG-genotype (non-smokers; n=65)	0.001	6.11	2.03-18.37
G-allele carriage (all subjects; n=99)	0.480	1.46	0.59-3.61
G-allele carriage (non-smokers; n=65)	0.019	5.09	1.27-20.29

In study II the analysis of the frequencies of the allele carriage related to the G-308A *TNFA* and Q551R *IL4RA* gene polymorphisms did not reveal significant differences between chronic periodontitis subjects and healthy individuals both for the entire cohort and for the non-smoking fraction of subjects. The analysis of the frequencies of the allele carriage related to the C-159T *CD14* gene polymorphism, however, demonstrated that the proportion of subjects that exhibited the TT genotype was significantly smaller in the group with severe chronic periodontitis than in healthy group (p<0.005 Fisher's Exact test) both in the entire cohort and in the non-smoking fraction of subjects (Fig.5).

Fig.5 *CD14* gene polymorphism. Percentage of subjects carrying any or no allele C in the periodontitis and control groups (all subjects and non-smokers)



\* indicates p<0.05 Fisher's Exact test

## Study III

## Genotype frequencies

The IL10 genotype frequencies assessment revealed that the homozygous GG genotype was detected in 26.4% (14 out of 53) of the subjects, while the homozygous AA genotype was found in 16.9% (9 out of 53). The remaining

56.6% (30 out of 53) of the subjects consequently exhibited the heterozygous genotype (GA). Regarding the CD14 genotype the prevalence of the heterozygous genotype (TC) (52.8%, 28 out of 53) was higher than the two homozygous genotypes CC and TT (26.4% and 20.7%).

## Proportion of IL-10+ cells in relation to IL-10 Genotype

The differences in the proportion (%) of IL-10+ cells in the central area of the ICT were not statistically significant between subjects carrying different IL-10 genotypes, i.e. GG, AG and AA. Conversely, in the peripheral area of the ICT (IL-10 per), subjects with the GG genotype showed significantly larger proportions of IL-10+ cells than subjects carrying the AG or the AA genotypes (Table 11). No statistically significant differences were found between the three CD14 genotypes, i.e., CC, TC and TT, with regard to the local expression of the mCD14 receptor.

Table 11. Proportions (%; mean  $\pm$  SD) of IL-10+ and CD14+ cells in the ICT in relation to the -1087 *IL10* and the -159 *CD14* Genotypes

IL10 Genotype	IL-10	IL-10 per	CD14 Genotype	mCD14
GG	$0.60 \pm 0.51$	$1.12 \pm 0.47*$	TT	3.20 ± 2.15
AG	$0.45 \pm 0.30$	$0.71 \pm 0.37$	TC	3.51 ± 1.86
AA	$0.65 \pm 0.43$	$0.75 \pm 0.43$	CC	$3.28 \pm 2.43$

\* indicates p<0.05 between GG and AG and between GG and AA (ANOVA and Student-Newman-Keuls test)

## Study IV

## Immunohistochemical analysis

The results of the immunohistochemical analysis revealed that B-cells (B-1 and B-2 cells) occurred in larger proportions than T cells and plasma cells. Thus, the percentage of the surface area of the ICT occupied by CD19-positive cells was 8.19 %. The corresponding figures for the B-1a cells (CD19+CD5), T-helper (CD4) and T-cytotoxic (CD8) lymphocytes, plasma cells (CD138) and elastase-positive cells were 5.0 %, 4.04%, 2.16%, 4.36% and 2.56% respectively (Table 2). The density of CD14 and Bcl2 positive cells were 3.65% and 2.96%, respectively. The relative proportion of phenotype markers of the inflammatory cells is presented in Fig. 6.

Fig. 6 Relative proportion of phenotype markers of inflammatory cells in periodontitis lesions.



## Pairwise correlation analysis

The pairwise correlation analysis revealed a statistically significant correlation between the percentages of B-1a cells (CD5+CD19) and plasma cells (Fig. 7) and between all B-lymphocytes (CD19) and plasma cells. A significant correlation was also observed between the densities of T-helper and T-cytotoxic cells. The proportion of cells that expressed the functional marker CD14 correlated with the fraction of B-lymphocytes, plasma cells, T-helper cells and T-cytotoxic cells. Correlations were also found between Bcl2 positive cells and T-helper and T-cytotoxic cells.



Fig. 7 Correlation between the percentages of B-1a cells and plasma cells

Pat.19

Pat.21

Pat.15 Pat.17

at.13

at.11

Pat.9

# Study V

Pat.3

Pat.5 Pat.7

Pat.1

4 2 0

All specimens sampled at baseline (healed sites) harbored small inflammatory cell infiltrates (ICT), the size of which was  $0.13 \pm 0.09 \text{ mm}^2$ . In sections representing 3 weeks of plaque accumulation the size of the ICT was  $0.25 \pm 0.18 \text{ mm}^2$ . The difference between the two groups of specimens was statistically significant.

Pat.23 Pat.25 Pat.27 Pat.29 Pat.35 Pat.37

at.33

at.31

### Immunohistochemical analysis

The biopsies retrieved after 3 weeks of plaque accumulation contained larger proportions of CD19+CD5 positive cells than biopsies representing baseline (7.38  $\pm$  2.80 *versus* 5.96  $\pm$  2.48). This difference was statistically significant. The tissue fraction of cells carrying the CD3 and the CD19 markers were significantly larger at sites after 3 weeks of plaque accumulation than at baseline (7.85  $\pm$  2.40% *vs* 5.17  $\pm$  1.74% and 10.09  $\pm$  3.11% *vs* 7.96  $\pm$  2.56%). Although not statistically significant, the proportions of CD138 and elastase positive cells were larger in sections representing 3 weeks of plaque accumulation than in sections representing baseline. While the density of cells positive for the functional marker CD14 was almost similar in sections from baseline (2.03  $\pm$  0.80%) and 3 weeks (1.98  $\pm$  0.55%), the proportion of Bcl2 positive cells was significantly larger in the 3-week than in baseline specimens (3.65  $\pm$  1.62% *vs* 2.46  $\pm$  1.23%).

**Fig. 8** Histogram illustrating changes in cell densities between baseline and 3 weeks of experimental gingivitis (\* indicates p<0.05 Student's t-test).



# **Main Findings**

The proportion of subjects that exhibited the -1087 IL10 GG genotype, was significantly larger in the group with severe periodontitis than in the group of healthy controls (**Study I**).

The proportion of subjects that exhibited the -159 CD14 TT genotype, was significantly smaller in the group with severe periodontitis than in periodontally healthy group (**Study II**).

The proportion of IL-10 positive cells in the peripheral area of the periodontitis lesions was significantly larger in subjects with the -1087 *IL10* GG genotype than in subjects with AG or AA genotypes (**Study III**).

B cells (B-1a cells and B-2 cells) occurred in larger proportions than T cells, plasma cells and neutrophils in periodontitis lesions. A significant correlation was found between percentages of B-1a cells and plasma cells and between densities of B-lymphocytes and plasma cells (**Study IV**).

Biopsies retrieved after 3 weeks of plaque accumulation contained larger proportions of B-1a cells than biopsies representing healthy sites (**Study V**).

# **Concluding remarks**

### Study I

In Study I the frequency of -1087 *IL10* alleles in subjects with generalized, severe chronic periodontitis was analyzed. It was demonstrated that the proportion of subjects that exhibited the GG genotype was significantly larger in subjects with severe periodontitis than in periodontally healthy individuals. The difference regarding the occurrence of the GG genotype between the two groups was more conspicuous in non-smokers and yielded an odds ratio of 6.1. The G allele carriage in non-smokers was > 90 % in the periodontitis group and was significantly larger than in healthy controls.

Yamazaki et al. (2001) studied the association of an *IL10* gene haplotype, i.e. the combination of -1082, -819 and -592 (-1087, -824, -597) polymorphisms with periodontitis in a Japanese population. It was demonstrated that none of the haplotypes could be linked to subjects with periodontitis and that the occurrence of a G allele at position -1082 (-1087) in such patients was in relative terms low. Mellati et al. (2007) studied the association of the -1082 (-1087) IL10 gene polymorpism with subjects suffering from aggressive periodontitis in a population of Iranian Khorasanian. The authors observed no significant differences in terms of genotype frequencies between periodontitis subjects and controls. One reason for the difference between the studies by Yamazaki et al. (2001) and Mellati et al. (2007) on the one hand and Study I of the present thesis on the other, is related to the ethnic origin of the populations examined. In Study I, Caucasians of a north European origin were included, while the participants in the study by Yamazaki et al. (2001) and Mellati et al. (2007) were Japanese and Iranian respectively. Several cytokine gene polymorphisms were analyzed in another oriental population (Hong Kong Chinese) by Padyukov et al. (2001). It was demonstrated that the G allele in position -1087 was very rare in the Chinese population (allele frequency 0.05 in comparison to 0.53 in Swedish Caucasians). This demonstrates that the interpretation of findings regarding gene polymorphisms also must be related to the ethnic origin of the study population.

The finding of an association between the polymorphism in the *IL10* gene and periodontitis in the Study I is also in contrast to data reported by Brett et al. (2005) and Babel et al (2006). In these studies, subjects of a north European origin were recruited to evaluate the association of the -1082 (-1087) IL10 gene polymorphisms with chronic periodontitis. Subjects were selected according to the International Workshop for a Classification of Periodontal Diseases and Conditions (Armitage, 1999) but no stratification regarding smoking status of the population was applied. The results of both studies failed to demonstrate an association between the -1082 (-1087) IL10 gene polymorphism and periodontitis. It should be emphasized, however, that established environmental risk factors for periodontitis, such as smoking, may modulate gene expression and protein production in the periodontium (Cesar-Neto et al. 2007 and Torres de Heens et al. 2009). This finding suggests that established risk factors, such as smoking, should be taken in to consideration when evaluating the influence of genetic polymorphisms in the susceptibility to periodontitis.

The association of a haplotype of three *IL10* gene polymorphisms (-1082 G>A, -819 C>T, -590 C>A) with periodontitis also was investigated. Scarel-Caminaga et al. (2004) and Reichert et al. (2008) observed that the ATA haplotype was more prevalent in the chronic periodontitis group in subjects from the South-eastern of Brazil and in German Caucasian subjects with aggressive periodontitis. Cullinan et al. (2008) demonstrated that individuals

having either the ATA/ACC or the ACC/ACC genotype had around 20% fewer sites with probing depth of  $\geq$  4 mm than individuals with other genotypes. The difference between the studies referred to (Scarel-Caminaga et al. 2004, Reichert et al. 2008 and Cullinan et al. 2008) and the Study I of the present series may be explained by the selection of periodontitis subjects. In Study I a selection of subjects with severe chronic periodontitis (bone loss >50% at all the teeth and PPD > 6mm and Bop+ at >80% of the proximal sites prior to therapy) was carried out, while in the studies by Scarel-Caminaga et al. (2004), Reichert et al. (2008) and Cullinan et al. (2008) the selection of periodontitis cases included subjects with different disease severity (from mild to severe). The heterogeneity in the selection of periodontitis (Loos et al. 2008).

#### Study II

In Study II the association of some immune regulation gene polymorphisms (G-308A *TNF A*; Q551R *IL4RA* and C-159T *CD14*) with severe chronic periodontitis was studied. It was demonstrated that while the gene polymorphisms for *TNF A* and *IL-4RA* did not show any association with severe chronic periodontitis, the analysis of the -159 *CD14* gene polymorphism revealed significant differences between test and control groups. Thus, the proportion of subjects that exhibited the TT genotype was significantly smaller in the group with severe periodontitis than in periodontal healthy group. Further, the C allele carriage was 90% in the periodontitis group and significantly higher than in the healthy control group (72%).

Holla et al. (2002) studied two CD14 gene polymorphisms (at position -159 and -1359) in relation to severity of chronic periodontitis in subjects of a Czech ethnicity. It was reported that the distribution of the genotypes did not differ between periodontitis subjects and healthy controls. Holla et al. (2002) further reported that the TT genotype tended to be more frequent in subjects with severe periodontitis than in subjects with moderate periodontitis. This finding is not in agreement with observations made in Study II of the present series. Thus, in Study II a higher frequency of the TT genotype was found in the control group than in the periodontitis group. In other words, a statistically significant difference between test and control subjects regarding the carriage of allele C was found, which indicated a larger proportion of the TT genotype in control subjects (28.2%) than in subjects with severe chronic periodontitis (10.0%).

The reasons for the conflicting results in the Study II and in the study by Holla et al. (2002) are not presently understood but may be related to the inclusion criteria of subjects in the test and control groups as well as differences in genetic structure of the populations. Yamazaki et al. (2003) reported on the occurrence of the -159 CD14 gene polymorphism in a Japanese population. It was demonstrated that genotype distribution (CT, CC or TT) and the allele frequency did not differ between periodontitis patients and control subjects. Also the results reported by Yamazaki et al. (2003) regarding the -159 CD14 gene polymorphism are in contrast with the findings made in Study II. In particular, a smaller proportion of the subjects in the test group in the current study exhibited the TT genotype as compared to the test subjects in the study by Yamazaki et al. (2003). While differences may exist with respect to inclusion criteria in test and control groups in the present material and the study by Yamazaki et al. (2003), other reasons, such as ethnic origin of subjects must be considered. Two other studies with Caucasian subjects investigated the -159 CD14 gene polymorphism in chronic periodontitis and reported conflicting results. Folwaczny et al. (2004) did not find association between genotypes of the -159*CD14* gene polymoprhism and chronic periodontitis. However, it was shown that the C allele was significantly more prevalent among females with periodontitis than in healthy control subjects. Furthermore, the genotype CC tended to be more prevalent in severe forms of periodontitis than in mild or moderate forms. On the other hand, Laine et al. (2005) demonstrated that the TT genotype of the -159*CD14* gene polymorphism was associated with severe chronic periodontitis in Dutch Caucasians. While the findings by Folwaczny et al. (2004) to some extent were in agreement with the results reported in Study II, the data presented by Laine et al. (2005) were in contrast to those in Study II.

It has been demonstrated that the C to T transition at position –159 is related to the production of the sCD14 (Baldini et al. 1999). Baldini et al. (1999) reported that subjects with the homozygous TT genotype exhibited significantly higher sCD14 levels than individuals with CC and CT genotypes. This finding indicates that variations in the promoter region of the CD14 gene may change the production of CD14 and, also influence the balance between Th2 and Th1 cells in the response to a bacterial challenge. In a series of studies it was demonstrated that higher levels of sCD14 in gingival crevicular fluid were associated with fewer and shallower pockets in periodontitis patients (Jin et al. 2001) and that expression levels of mCD14 in healthy tissues of the controls were significantly higher then those in clinically healthy tissues from periodontitis subjects and, further, that within the patient group, the clinically healthy tissues showed greater levels of mCD14 than tissues from periodontitis sites. (Jin et al. 2004). Taken together, the findings by Baldini et al. 1999, Jin et al. 2001 and Jin et al. 2004 seem to corroborate the results presented in Study II, which revealed that the proportion of subjects that exhibited the TT genotype was significantly

smaller in the group with severe periodontitis than in periodontally healthy group.

## Study III

In Study III the expression of IL-10 and mCD14 positive cells in relation to the -1087 IL10 and the -159 CD14 gene polymorphisms was analyzed in a group of subjects with severe chronic periodontitis. The results showed that the largest proportion of IL-10 positive cells was identified in gingival biopsies that were retrieved from subjects carrying the GG genotype. In particular, the proportion of IL-10 positive cells in the peripheral area of the periodontitis lesions was significantly larger in subjects with GG genotype than in subjects with AG or AA genotypes. The local expression of the mCD14 receptor, however, did not vary between subjects with different genotypes of the -159 CD14 gene polymorphism.

The presence of IL-10 in periodonitis lesions has been demonstrated in several reports (Yamazaki et al. 1997; Aramaki et al. 1998; Lappin et al. 2001). In recent publications it was indicated that IL-10 was expressed more intensely in biopsies from chronic periodontitis subjects than in gingival tissue from controls (Garlet et al. 2003) and that the expression of IL-10 was higher in periodontitis than in gingivitis lesions (Nakajima et al. 2005). Thus, IL-10 expression is associated with severe periodontitis and appears to be an important cytokine in the regulation of periodontitis lesions. However, there are no functional studies that evaluated the correlation between IL-10 genotypes and the expression of interleukin-10 in periodontitis lesions. Nevertheless, findings reported in studies from other medical fields suggested that the ability to produce IL-10 is influenced by genetic factors (Turner et al. 1997, Crawley et al. 1999, Koss et al. 2000). In particular, some studies

(Turner et al. 1997, Suarez et al. 2003, Marka et al. 2005, Stanilova et al 2006) emphasized the relevance of the -1082 (-1087) IL10 gene polymorphism in the expression control of interleukin-10. Suarez and coworkers (2003) evaluated the IL-10 levels and its genetic regulation in a healthy Spanish population. The authors observed that the G allele at position -1082 (-1087) was the most important genetic factor in the regulation of IL-10 mRNA levels. Furthermore, it was also demonstrated that the major production of IL-10 after LPS stimulation corresponded to the -1082 (-1087) GG genotype as demonstrated in previous studies (Turner et al 1997). The findings presented by Marka et al. (2005) and by Stanilova et al. (2006) corroborated earlier results. In fact, while Marka et al. (2005) showed that higher IL-10 plasma levels were found in subjects with the GG genotype than in subjects carrying AA or GA genotypes in a population of Hungarian with Sjögren's syndrome, Stanilova et al. (2006) demonstrated that the AA genotype was associated with lower IL-10 production in stimulated PBMC from healthy subjects and that the carriage of at least one copy of G allele in sepsis patients and in healthy controls resulted in a statistically significant increase in IL-10 production from stimulated PBMC. These findings are in agreement with data presented in Study III in which the GG genotype was associated with larger proportion of IL-10 positive cells in comparison to GA or AA genotypes. Recent findings (Larsson et al. 2008) revealed that the Sp1 transcription factor bound to the -1087 G-allele of the IL10 promoter region of the gene and that the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation resulted in a 15fold increase in promoter activity (e.g. protein production) for the G-allele as compared to the 6-fold increase of the A-allele. The results suggested a role for the Sp1 transcription factor in the activation of the IL-10 through the Gallele of the -1087 *IL-10* gene polymorphism in response to inflammatory signals and highlighted the complexity of the IL-10 regulation and expression.

#### Study IV

Study IV in the present thesis evaluated proportion of various cell markers in gingival biopsies retrieved from subjects with severe chronic periodontitis. It was observed that B-lymphocytes were found in larger fractions than that of T lymphocytes, plasma cells and neutrophils. Furthermore, about 60% of the B-lymphocytes exhibited both the CD19 and the CD5 markers and, thus, were classified as B-1a cells and the proportion of B-1a cells correlated with that of plasma cells.

A recent meta-analysis of the distribution of leukocytes in periodontitis lesions was presented by Berglundh & Donati (2005). The authors concluded that plasma cells outnumbered other cells in the lesions. This observation was based on findings of the studies included in the analysis. However, these studies used stereological technique/morphological criteria to evaluate the presence of leukocytes in the periodontitis lesions. The results of the Study IV in the present series demonstrated that the proportion of B-lymphocytes was considerably larger than that of plasma cells. The reason for this difference may be explained by the use of a different technique used (i.e. immunohistochemistry) for the detection of inflammatory cells in the periodontitis lesions. In this study it was further observed that almost 2/3 of the B-lymphocytes (CD19) were defined as autoreactive B-lymphocytes (CD19+CD5). Although the presence of such autoreactive B-lymphocytes (B-1a cells) in periodontitis lesions was previously demonstrated (Sugawara et al. 1992, Aramaki et al. 1998, Berglundh et al. 2002) the differences between the percentages of B-1a cells reported in the above mentioned studies are presently not understood and future studies may clarify whether other factors influence the presence of B-1a cells in periodontitis lesions. One of the main objectives of the Study IV of the present series was to evaluate correlations

between different cell proportions in the periodontitis lesion. Significant correlations were found between B-1a cells and plasma cells, and between B-lymphocytes and plasma cells. This observation may thus indicate that plasma cells in periodontitis may develop from both B-1a and B-2 cells and antibodies produced by plasma cells may, consequently, also be auto-antibodies as previously demonstrated (Fits et a. 1986, Hirsh et al. 1988, Jonsson et al. 1991, De Gennaro et al. 2006).

### Study V

The reaction of B-1a cells to de novo plaque formation was evaluated in patients who were treated for severe chronic periodontitis. A significant larger proportion of B-1a cells was observed in biopsies retrieved from sites representing 3 weeks of plaque accumulation (inflammation sites) than in biopsies representing baseline (healthy sites).

Previous studies (Fransson et al. 1999, Zitzmann et al. 2001) evaluated the occurrence of the inflammatory cell composition in gingival biopsies after a 3-week period of experimental gingivitis. The results of the immunohistochemical analysis revealed that the specimens retrieved following the experimental gingivitis period harbored significantly higher proportions of B-lymphocytes than the tissue biopsies representing baseline. To our knowledge there are no reports that investigated the reaction of autoreactive B-lymphocytes to de novo plaque formation. The contribution of Study V of the present thesis is the novel finding that autoreactive Blymphocytes (B-1a cells) are involved in the host response to microbial challenge in subjects susceptible to periodontitis. This points to the involvement of autoimmune components in the host response of subjects with chronic periodontitis. Future studies will further elucidate the role of these

69

cells in the complex mechanisms of the periodontitis lesion in subjects with chronic periodontitis.

## References

Afar B, Engel D, Clark EA. (1992) Activated lymphocyte subsets in adult periodontitis. *J Periodontal Res* 27: 126-133.

Aramaki M, Nagasawa T, Koseki T, Ishikawa I. (1998) Presence of activated B-1 cells in chronic inflamed gingival tissue. *J Clin Immunol* 18: 421-429.

Armitage GC (1999) Development of a classification system for periodontal diseases and conditions. *Ann Periodontol* 4: 1-6

Babel N, Cherepnev G, Babel D, Tropmann A, Hammer M, Volk HD, Reinke P. (2006) Analysis of tumor necrosis factor-alpha, transforming growth factor-beta, interleukin-10, IL-6, and interferon-gamma gene polymorphisms in patients with chronic periodontitis. *J Periodontol*. 77: 1978-1983.

Baelum V, Fejerskov O, Karring T. (1986) Oral hygiene, gingivitis and periodontal breakdown in adult Tanzanians. *J Periodontal Res.* 21: 221-232

Baldini M, Lohman, IC, Halonen M, Erickson RP, Holt PG, Martinez FD. (1999) A Polymorphism\* in the 5' flanking region of the CD14 gene is associated with circulating soluble CD14 levels and with total serum immunoglobulin E. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 20: 976-983

Bayley JP, Ottenhoff THM, Verweij CL. (2004) Is there a future for TNF promoter polymorphisms ? *Genes & Immunity* 5: 315-329

Beebe AM, Cua DJ, Malefyt RD. (2002) The role of interleukin-10 in autoimmune disease: systemic lupus erythematousus (SLE) and multiple sclerosis (MS). *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 13: 403-412

71

Berglundh T, Liljenberg B, Tarkowski A, Lindhe J. (1998) Local and sytsemic TCR V gene expression in advanced periodontal disease. *J Clin Periodontol* 25, 125-134

Berglundh T, Liljenberg B. Lindhe J. (1999) Some effects of periodontal therapy on local and systemic immunological parameters. *J Clin Periodontol* 26: 91-98.

Berglundh T, Wellfelt B, Liljenberg B, Lindhe J. (2001) Some local and systemic immunological features of prepubertal periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol*. 28: 113-120.

Berglundh T, Liljenberg B, Tarkowski A. Lindhe J. (2002) The presence of local and circulating autoreactive B cells in patients with advanced periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol* 29: 281-286.

Berglundh T, Donati M. (2005) Aspects of the adaptive host response in periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol* 32 (suppl. 6): 87-107.

Berland R, Wortis H. (2002) Origins and functions of B-1 cells with notes of the role of CD5. *Ann Rev Immunol* **20**: 253-300.

Beutler B, Cerami A. (1989) The biology of TFN, a primary mediator of the host response. *Ann Rev Immunol.* **7**: 625-655

Borish L. (1998) IL-10: Evolving concepts. J Allergy Clin Immunol 101: 293-297.

Bos NA, Cebra JJ, Kroese FGM. (2000) B-1 cells and the intestinal microflora. *Curr Top. Microbiol Immunol* 252: 211-220.

Boughman JA, Astemborski JA, Suzuki JB (1992) Phenotypic assessment of early onset periodontitis in sibships. *J.Clin. Periodontol*. 19: 233-239

72
Brett PM, Zygogianni P, Griffiths GS, Tomaz M, Parkar M, D'Aiuto F, Tonetti M. (2005) Functional gene polymorphisms in aggressive and chronic periodontitis. *J Dent Res.* 84:1149-1153.

Bulut S, Uslu H, Ozdemir BH, Bulut OE. (2006) Expression of caspase-3, p53 and Bcl-2 in generalized aggressive periodontitis. *Head Face Med* 2:1-7.

Burastero SE, Casali P, Wilder RL, Notkins AL. (1988) Monoreactive high affinity and polyreactive low affinity rheumatoid factors are produced by CD5+ B cells from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *J Exp Med* 168: 1979-1992.

Carroll MC, Prodeus AP. (1998) Linkages of innate and adaptive immunity. *Curr Op Immunol* 10: 36-40.

Celenligil H, Kansu E, Ruacan S, Eratalay K, Caglayan G. (1993) In situ characterization of gingival mononuclear cells in rapidly progressive periodontitis. *J Periodontol.* 64: 120-7.

César-Neto JB, Duarte PM, de Oliveira MC, Tambeli CH, Sallum EA, Nociti FH Jr. (2007) Smoking modulates interleukin-6:interleukin-10 and RANKL: osteoprotegerin ratios in the periodontal tissues. *J Periodontal Res.* 42:184-191.

Charon J, Toto PD, Gargiulo AW. (1981) Activated macrophages in human periodontitis. *J Periodontol*. 52: 328-335.

Cobb CM, Singla O, Feil PH, Theisen FC, Schultz RE. (1989) Comparison of NKcell (Leu-7+ and Leu-11b+) populations in clinically healthy gingiva, chronic gingivitis and chronic adult periodontitis. *J Periodontal Res.* 24: 1-7 Consensus Report (1999) Chronic Periodontitis. *Annals of Periodontology* Vol. 4: 38-39

Corey LA, Nance WE, Hofstede P, Schenkein HA. (1993) Self-reported periodontal disease in a Virginia twin population. *J. Periodontol.* 64: 1205-1208

Craandijk J, van Krugten MV, Verweij CL, van der Velden U, Loos BG. (2002) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene polymorphisms in relation to periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol.* 29: 28-34.

Crawley E, Kay R, Sillibourne J, Patel P, Hutchinson I, Woo P. (1999) Polymorphic haplotypes of the interleukin-10 5' flanking region determine variable interleukin-10 transcription and are associated with particular phenotypes of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*. 42: 1101-1108

Cullinan MP, Westerman B, Hamlet SM, Palmer JE, Faddy MJ, Seymour GJ, Middleton PG, Taylor JJ. (2008) Progression of periodontal disease and interleukin-10 gene polymorphism. *J Periodontal Res.* 43: 328-33.

Dauphinee M, Tovar Z, Talal N. (1988) B cells expressing CD5 are increased in Sjogren's syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum* 31: 642–647.

De Gennaro LA, Lopes JD, Mariano M. (2006) Autoantibodies directed to extracellular matrix components in patients with different clinical forms of periodontitis. *J Periodontol*. 77: 2025-2030

Duff (1994) Molecular genetics of cytokines. In: Thomson (ed.) The cytokine handbook, 2nd edition, pp.21-30. London: Academic Press.

Duan B, Morel L. (2006) Role of B-1a cells in autoimmunity. *Autoimmunity Reviews* 5: 403-408.

Ebeling SB, Schutte ME, Logtenberg T. (1993) The majority of human tonsillar CD5C B cells express somatically mutated V kappa 4 genes. *Eur J Immunol* 23: 1405–1408.

Endo M, Tai H, Tabeta K, Kobayashi T, Yamazaki K, Yoshie H. (2001) Analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms in the 5'-flanking region of tumor necrosis factoralpha gene in Japanese patients with early-onset periodontitis. *J Periodontol.* 72: 1554-1559.

Eggen, S. (1969) Standardiserad intraoral röngtenteknik. *Sveriges Tandläkarförbunds Tidningen* 17, 867-872

Eskdale J, Gallagher G. (1995) A polymorphic dinucleotide repeat in the human *IL-10* promoter. *Immunogenetics* 42: 444-445

Eskdale J, Kube D, Gallagher G. (1996) A second polymorphic dinucleotide repeat in the 5' flanking region of the human *IL10* gene. *Immunogenetics* 45: 82-83

Eskdale J, Kube D, Tesch H, Gallagher G. (1997) Mapping of the human IL-10 gene and further characterization of the 5' flanking sequence. *Immunogenetics* 46: 120-128

Fiorentino DF, Bond MW, Mosmann TR. (1989) Two types of mouse helper T cell. IV. Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones. *J. Exp. Med.* 170: 2081-2095

Folwaczny M, Glas J, Török HP, Fricke K, Folwaczny C. (2004) The CD14 -159Cto-T promoter polymorphism in periodontal disease. *J Clin Periodontol*. 31: 991-995.

75

Folwaczny M, Glas J, Török HP, Mende M, Folwaczny C. (2004) Lack of association between the TNF alpha G -308 A promoter polymorphism and periodontal disease. *J Clin Periodontol*. 31: 449-453.

Fransson C, Mooney J, Kinane DF, Berglundh T. (1999) Differences in the inflammatory response in young and old human subjects during the course of experimental gingivitis *J Clin Periodontol* 26: 453–460.

Ftis A, Singh G, Dolby AE. (1986) Antibody to collagen type I in periodontal disease. *J Periodontol* 57: 693-698

Galbraith GM, Steed RB, Sanders JJ, Pandey JP. (1998) Tumor necrosis factor alpha production by oral leukocytes: influence of tumor necrosis factor genotype. *J Periodontol.* 69: 428-433

Galbraith GM, Hendley TM, Sanders JJ, Palesch Y, Pandey JP. (1999) Polymorphic cytokine genotypes as markers of disease severity in adult periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol.* 26: 705-709.

Gamonal J, Bascones A, Acevedo A, Blanco E, Silva A. (2001) Apoptosis in chronic adult periodontitis analyzed by in situ DNA breaks, electron microscopy, and immunohistochemistry. *J Periodontol* 72: 517-525.

Garlet GP, Martins W Jr, Ferreira BR, Milanezi CM, Silva JS. (2003) Patterns of chemokines and chemokine receptors expression in different forms of human periodontal disease. *J Periodontal Res* 38: 210-217.

Gary-Gouy H, Harriague J, Bismuth G, Platzer C, Schmitt C, Dalloul A. (2002) Human CD5 promotes B cell survival through stimulation of autocrine IL-10 production. *Blood* 100: 4537-4543. Gemmell E, Marshall RI, Seymour GJ. (1997) Cytokine and prostaglandins in immune homeostasis and tissue distraction in periodontal disease. *Perio 2000*, 14: 112-143

Gemmell E, McHugh GB, Grieco DA, Seymour GJ. (2001) Costimulatory molecules in human periodontal disease tissues. *J Periodontal Res.* 36: 92-100.

Gemmell E, Carter CL, Hart DN, Drysdale KE, Seymour GJ. (2002) Antigenpresenting cells in human periodontal disease tissues. *Oral Microbiol Immunol* 17: 388-393.

Gemmell E, Yamazaki K, & Seymour GJ. (2002) Destructive periodontitis lesions are determined by the nature of the lymphocytic response. *Crit. Rev.Oral. Biol. Med.* 13: 17-34

Gillett R, Cruchley A, Johnson NW. (1986) The nature of the inflammatory infiltrates in childhood gingivitis, juvenile periodontitis and adult periodontitis: immunocytochemical studies using a monoclonal antibody to HLADr. *J Clin Periodontol.* 13: 281-288.

Gommerman JL, Carroll M. (2000) Negative selection of B lymphocytes: a novel role for innate immunity. *Immunol Rev* 173: 120-130.

Gonzales JR, Michel J, Diete A, Herrmann JM, Bödeker RH, Meyle J. (2002) Analysis of genetic polymorphisms at the interleukin-10 loci in aggressive and chronic periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol*. 29: 816-822.

Hardy RR, Hayakawa K. (2001) B cells development pathways. *Annual Reviews Immunol* 19: 595-621.

77

Haziot A, Chen S, Ferrero E, Low M, Silber R. Goyert S. (1988) The monocyte differentiation antigen, CD14, is anchored to the cell membrane by a glycophosphatidyl linkage. *J Immunol* 4: 547-552.

He B, Qiao X, Cerutti A. (2004) CpG DNA induces IgG class switch DNA recombination by activating human B cells through an innate pathway that requires TLR9 and cooperates with IL-10. *J Immunol* 173: 4479-4491.

Hershey GKK, Friedrich MF, Esswein LA, Thomas ML, Chatila TA (1997) The association of atopy with a gain-of-function mutation in the subunit of the interleukin-4 receptor. *N Engl J Med* 337: 1720-1725

Hillmann G, Krause S, Ozdemir A, Dogan S, Geurtsen W. (2001) Immunohistological and morphometric analysis of inflammatory cells in rapidly progressive periodontitis and adult periodontitis. *Clin Oral Investig.* 5: 227-235

Hirsch HZ, Tarkowski A, Miller EJ, Gay S, Koopman WJ, Mestecky J. (1988) Autoimmunity to collagen in adult periodontal disease. *J Oral Pathol* 17: 456-459.

Holla LI, Buckova D, Fassmann A, Halabala T, Vasku A, Vacha J. (2002) Promoter polymorphisms in the CD14 receptor gene and their potential association with the severity of chronic periodontitis. *J Med Genet.* 2002 39: 844-848

Hsu SM, Raine L, Fanger H. (1981) Use of avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (ABC) in immunoperoxidase techniques: a comparison between ABC and unlabeled antibody (PAP) procedures. *J Histochem Cytochem* 29: 577-580

Hu KF, Huang KC, Ho YP, Lin YC, Ho KY, Wu YM, Yang YH, Tsai CC. (2009) Interleukin-10 (-592 C/A) and interleukin-12B (+16974 A/C) gene polymorphisms and the interleukin-10 ATA haplotype are associated with periodontitis in a Taiwanese population. *J Periodontal Res*. Epub ahead of print Huiziga TW, Keijsers V, Yanni G, Hall M, Remage W, Lanchburry J, Pitzalis C, Drossaers-Bakker WK, Westendorp RG, Breedveld FC, Panayi G, Verweij CL. (2000) Are differences in interleukin 10 production associated with joint damage? *Rheumatology* 39: 1180-1188

Hulkkonen J, Pertovaara M, Antonen J, Lahdenpohja N, Pasternack A, Hurme M. (2001) Genetic association between interleukin-10 promoter region polymorphisms and primary Sjögren's syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum* 44: 176-179

Hytönen AM, Löwehagen O, Arvidsson M, Balder B, Björk AL, Lindegren S, Hahn-Zoric M, Lau YL, Hanson L, Padyukov L. (2004) Haplotypes of the interleukin-4 receptor alpha chain gene associate with susceptibility to and severity of atopic asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 34: 1570-1575.

Illera VA, Perandones CE, Stunz LL, Mower DA Jr, Ashman RF. (1993) Apoptosis in splenic B lymphocytes. Regulation by protein kinase C and IL-4. *J Immunol*. 151: 2965-973.

Jin L, Darveau RP. (2001) Soluble CD14 levels in gingival crevicular fluid of subjects with untreated adult periodontitis. *J Periodontol* 72: 634-640.

Jin L, Ren L, Leung WK Darveau RP. (2004) The in vivo expression of membranebound CD14 in periodontal health and disease. *J Periodontol* 75: 578-85.

Joachim F, Barber P, Newman HN, Osborn J. (1990) The plasma cell at the advancing front of the lesion in chronic periodontitis. *J Periodontal Res.* 25: 49-59.

Jonsson R, Pitts A, Lue C, Gay S, Mestecky J. (1991) Immunoglobulin isotype distribution of locally produced autoantibodies to collagen type I in adult periodontitis. Relationship to periodontal treatment. *J Clin Periodontol* 18: 703-707.

Kantor AB. (1991) The development and repertoire of B-1 cells (CD5 B cells). *Immunol today* 12: 389-391

Klein W, Tromm A, Griga T, Fricke H, Folwaczny C, Hocke M, Eitner K, Marx M, Duerig N, Epplen JT. (2002) A polymorpism in the CD14 gene is associated with Crohn disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* 37: 189-191

Kleinfelder JW, Sculean A, Lange DE. (2001) Some effects of non-surgical therapy on gingival inflammatory cell subsets in patients with early-onset periodontitis associated with Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans. *J Periodontol.* 72: 1713-1719.

Kinane DF, Hodge P, Eskdale J, Ellis R, Gallagher G. (1999) Analysis of genetic polymorphisms at the interleukin-10 and tumour necrosis factor loci in early-onset periodontitis. *J Periodontal Res.* 34: 379-386.

Kinane, D.F., Berglundh, T., Lindhe, J. (2003) Host-parasite interactions in periodontal disease. In: Lindhe, J., Karring, T., & Lang, N. P. eds. *Clinical periodontology and implant dentistry*, 4<sup>th</sup> edition. Munksgaard: Blackwell Publishing Company (Chapter 5)

Kinane DF, Shiba H, Hart TC. (2005) The genetic basis of periodontitis. *Perio* 2000; 39: 91-117

Koss K, Stsangi J, Fanning GC, Welsh KI, Jewell DP. (2000) Cytokine (TNF alpha, LT alpha and IL-10) polymorphisms in inflammatory bowel diseases and normal controls: differential effects on production and allele frequencies. *Gene and Immunity* 2: 181-190

Kruetzmann S, Rosado MM, Weber H, et al. (2003) Human immunoglobulin M memory B cells controlling Streptococcus pneumoniae infections are generated in the spleen. *J Exp Med* 197: 939-945.

Kruse S, Japha T, Tedner M, Sparholt SH, Forster J, Kuehr J, Deichmann KA (1999) The polymorphisms S503P and Q551R in the interleukin-4 receptor alpha gene are associated with atopy and influence the signal transduction. *Immunology* 96: 365-371

Kube D, Platzer C, von Knethen A Straub H, Bohlen H, Afner M, et al. (1995) Isolation of the human IL-10 promoter. Characterization of the promoter activity in the Burkitt's limphoma cell line. *Cytokine* 7: 1-7

Kube D, Rieth H, Eskadale J, Kremsner PG, Gallagher G. (2001) Structural characterisation of the distal 5' flanking region of the human interleukin-10 gene. *Genes and Immunity* 2: 181-190

Laine ML, Morré SA, Murillo LS, van Winkelhoff AJ, Peña AS. (2005) CD14 and TLR4 gene polymorphisms in adult periodontitis. *J Dent Res.* 84:1042-1046.

Lalami I, Bhol K, Ahmed AR. (1997) Interleukin-10: biology role in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 79: 469-484.

Lappin DF, Koulouri O, Radvar M, Hodge P, Kinane DF. (1999) Relative proportions of mononuclear cell types in periodontal lesions analyzed by immunohistochemistry. *J Clin Periodontol*. 26: 183-189

Lappin DF, MacLeod CP, Kerr A, Mitchell T, Kinane DF. (2001) Antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10 and T cell cytokine profile in periodontitis granulation tissue. *Clin Exp Immunol* 123, 294-300. Larsson L, Johansson P, Jonason A, Donati M, Rymo L, Berglundh T. (2008) The Sp1 transcription factors binds to the G-allele of the -1087 *IL-10 gene* and enhances transcriptional activation. *Gene & Immunity* Epub ahead of print.

Levy Y, Brouet JC. (1994) Interleukin-10 prevents spontaneous death of germinal center B cells by induction of the bcl-2 protein. *J. Clin. Invest.* 93: 424-428

Liang B, Mamula MJ. (2000) Molecular mimicry and the role of B lymphocytes in the processing of autoantigens. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 57: 561-568.

Liljenberg B, Lindhe J, Berglundh T, Dahlén G, Jonsson R. (1994) Some microbiological, histopathological and immunohistochemical characteristics of progressive periodontal disease. *J Clin Periodontol.* 21: 720-727.

Lindhe J, Liljenberg B, Listgarten M. (1980) Some microbiological and histopathological features of periodontal disease in man. *J Periodontol.* 51: 264-269.

Löe H, Anerud A, Boysen H, Morrison E. (1986) Natural history of periodontal disease in man. Rapid, moderate and no loss of attachment in Sri Lankan laborers 14 to 46 years of age. *J Clin Periodontol* 13: 431-445

Loos, BG, John RP, Laine ML. (2005) Identification of genetic risk factors for periodontitis and possible mechanisms of action. *J. Clin. Periodontol.* 32 (Suppl.6): 159-179

Loos, B.G., van der Velden, U., Laine, M.L. (2008) Susceptibility. In: Lindhe, J., Lang, N. P. & Karring, T. eds. *Clinical periodontology and implant dentistry*, 5<sup>th</sup> edition. Munksgaard: Blackwell Publishing Company (Chapter 13) Lopes-Carvalho T, Kearney JF. (2004) Development and selection of marginal zone B cells. *Immunol Rev* 197:192.

Lund FE, Garvy BA, Randall TD, Harris DP. (2005) Regulatory roles for cytokine producing B cells in infection and autoimmune disease. *Curr Dir Autoimmun* 8: 25-54.

Mackler BF, Frostad KB, Robertson PB, Levy BM. (1977) Immunoglobulin bearing lymphocytes and plasma cells in human periodontal disease. *J Periodontal Res.* 12: 37-45.

Mahanonda R, Sa-Ard-Iam N, Yongvanitchit K, Wisetchang M, Ishikawa I, Nagasawa T, Walsh DS, Pichyangkul S. (2002) Upregulation of co-stimulatory molecule expression and dendritic cell marker (CD83) on B cells in periodontal disease. *J Periodontal Res* 37: 177-183.

Marazita, ML, Burmeister, JA, Gunsolley, JC, Koertge, TE, Lake, K, Schenkein, HA. (1994). Evidence for autosomal dominant inheritance and race-specific heterogeneity in early-onset periodontitis. *J. Periodontol.* 65: 623-630

Maria de Freitas N, Imbronito AV, Neves AC, Nunes FD, Pustiglioni FE, Lotufo RF. (2007) Analysis of IL-1A (-889) and TNF(-308) gene polymorphism in Brazilian patients with generalized aggressive periodontitis. *Eur Cytokine Netw* 18: 142-147

Marka M, Bessenyei B, Zeher M, Semsei I. (2005) IL-10 promoter -1082 polymorphism is associated with elevated IL-10 levels in control subjects but does not explain elevated plasma IL-10 observed in Sjögren's syndrome in a Hungarian cohort. *Scand J Immunol* 62: 474-480.

83

Marsden VS, Strasser A. (2005) Control of apoptosis in the immune system: Bcl-2, BH3-only proteins and more. *Annu Rev Immunol* 21: 71-105.

Martin F, Kearney JF. (2000) B-cell subsets and the mature preimmune repertoire. Marginal zone and B1 B cells as part of a "natural immune memory". *Immunol Rev* 175: 70-79

Mellati E, Arab HR, Tavakkol-Afshari J, Ebadian AR, Radvar M. (2007) Analysis of -1082 IL-10 gene polymorphism in Iranian patients with generalized aggressive periodontitis. *Med Sci Monit*.13: CR 510-514.

Michalowicz BS, Aeppli D, Virag JG, Klump DG, Hinrichs JE, Segal NL, Bouchard Tj, Philstrom BL. (1991b) Periodontal findings in adult twins. *J. Periodontol.* 62: 293-299

Michalowicz BS, Diehl SR, Gunsolley JC, Sparks BS, Brooks CN, Koertge TE, Califano JV, Burmeister JA, Schenkein HA (2000). Evidence of a substantial genetic basis for risk of adult periodontitis. *J. Periodontol.* 71: 1699-1707

Milner E, Anolik J, Cappione A, Sanz I. (2005) Human innate B cells: a link between host defense and autoimmunity? *Springer Semin Immunopathol* 26: 433-452

Mitsuyasu H, Yanagihara Y, Mao X-Q, Gao P-S, Arinobu Y, Ihara K, Takabayashi A, Hara T, Enomoto T, Sasaki S, Kawai M, Hamasaki N, Shirakawa T, Hopkin JM, Izuhara K (1999) Dominant effect of Ile50Val variant of the human IL-4 receptor - chain in IgE synthesis. *J Immunol* 162: 1227-1231

Mocellin S, Marincola F, Rossi CR, Nitti D, Lise M. (2004) The multifaceted relationship between IL-10 and adaptive immunity: putting together the pieces of the puzzle. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 15: 61–76

Mohan C, Morel L, Yang P, Wakeland EK. (1998) Accumulation of spenic B1a cells with potent antigen presenting capability in NZN2410 lupus prone mice. *Arthritis Rheum* 41: 1652-1662

Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A. (2001) Interleukin-10 and interleukin-10 receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* 19: 683-765

Mori M, Morris SC, Orekhova T, Marinaro M, Giannini E, Finkelman FD. (2000) IL-4 promotes the migration of circulating B cells to the spleen and increases splenic B cell survival. *J Immunol* 164: 5704-5712.

Nakajima T, Ueki-Maruyama K, Oda T et al. (2005) Regulatory T-cells infiltrate periodontal disease tissues. *J Dent Res* 84: 639-43.

Nath SK, Harley JB, Lee YH. (2005) Polymorphisms of the complement receptor 1 and interleukin-10 genes and systemic lupus erythematosus: a meta-analysis. *Hum Genet* 118: 225-234

O'Garra A, Chang R, Go N, Hastings R, Haughton G, Howard M. (1992) Ly-1 B (B-1) cells are the main source of the B cell-derived interleukin 10. *Eur J Immunol* 22: 711-717.

Okada H, Kida T, Yamagami H. (1983) Identification and distribution of immunocompetent cells in inflamed gingiva of human chronic periodontitis. *Infect Immun.* 41: 365-374.

Orima K, Yamazaki K, Aoyagi T, Hara K (1999) Differential expression of costimulatory molecules in chronic inflammatory periodontal disease tissue. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 115: 153-160

Padyukov L, Hahn-Zoric M, Lau YL, Hanson L. (2001) Different allelic frequencies of several cytokine genes in Hong Kong Chinese and Swedish Caucasians. *Genes and Immunity* 2: 280-283

Page RC, Schroeder HE. (1976) Pathogenesis of inflammatory periodontal disease. A summary of current work. *Laboratory Investigation* 33: 235-249

Passo SA, Reinhardt RA, DuBois LM, Cohen DM. (1988) Histological characteristics associated with suppurating periodontal pockets. *J Periodontol*. 59: 731-740.

Pociot, F., Briant, L., Jongeneel, C. V., Molvig, J., Worsaae, H., Abbal, M., Thomsen, M., Neurp, J., Cambon-Thomsen, A. (1993) Association of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and class II major histocompatibility complex alleles with the secretion of TNF-a and TNF-b by human mononuclear cells: a possible link to insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23: 224–231.

Porakishvili N, Mageed R, Jamin C, Pers JO, Kulikova N, Ranaudineau Y, Lydyard PM, Youinou P. (2001) Recent progress in the understanding of B-cell functions in autoimmunity. *Scand J Immunol* 54: 30-38

Powrie F, Bean A and Moore K (1997): Interleukin-10. Pp. 143-152 in: Remick D and Friedland J (eds) Cytokine in health and disease, Marcel Dekker Inc, New York.

Reichert S, Machulla HK, Klapproth J, Zimmermann U, Reichert Y, Gläser CH, Schaller HG, Stein J, Schulz S. (2008) The interleukin-10 promoter haplotype ATA is a putative risk factor for aggressive periodontitis. *J Periodontal Res.* 43: 40-47.

Reinhardt RA, Bolton RW, McDonald TL, DuBois LM, Kaldahl WB. (1988) In situ lymphocyte subpopulations from active versus stable periodontal sites. J Periodontol. 59: 656-670.

Ren L, Leung WK, Darveau RP, Jin L. (2005) The expression profile of lipopolysaccharide-binding protein, membrane-bound CD14, and toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in chronic periodontitis. *J Periodontol* 76: 1950-1959.

Scarel-Caminaga RM, Trevilatto PC, Souza AP, Brito RB, Camargo LE, Line SR. (2004) Interleukin 10 gene promoter polymorphisms are associated with chronic periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol*. 31: 443-448.

Schork NJ, Fallin D, Lanchbury JS. (2000) Single nucleotide polymorphisms and the future of genetic epidemiology. *Clin Genetics* 58: 250-264

Seymour GJ, Greenspan JS. (1979) The phenotypic characterization of lymphocyte subpopulations in established human periodontal disease. *J Periodontal Res.* 14: 39-46

Shapira L, Wilensky A, Kinane DF. (2005) Effect of genetic variability on the inflammatory response to periodontal infection. *J Clin Periodontol* 32 (Suppl.6); 72-86

Singh RR. (2003) IL-4 and many roads to lupuslike autoimmunity. *Clin Immunol*. 108: 73-79.

Soga Y, Nishimura F, Ohyama H, Maeda H, Takashiba S, Murayama Y. (2003) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene (TNF-alpha) -1031/-863, -857 single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are associated with severe adult periodontitis in Japanese. *J Clin Periodontol.* 30: 524-531 Stanilova SA, Miteva LD, Karakolev ZT, Stefanov CS. (2006) Interleukin-10-1082 promoter polymorphism in association with cytokine production and sepsis susceptibility. *Intensive Care Med* 32: 260-266.

Stein SH, Hart TE, Hoffman WH, Hendrix CL, Gustke CJ, Watson SC. (1997) Interleukin-10 promotes anti-collagen antibody production in type I diabetic peripheral B lymphocytes. *J Periodontal Res* 32: 189-195.

Suarez A, Castro P, Alonso R, Mozo L, Gutierrez C. (2003) Interindividual variations in constitutive interleukin-10 messenger RNA and protein levels and their association with genetic polymorphisms. *Transplantation* 75: 711-717.

Sugawara M, Yamashita K, Yoshie H, Hara K. (1992) Detection of, and anticollagen antibody produced by, CD5-positive B cells in inflamed gingival tissues. *J Periodontal Res* 27: 489-498.

Sumer AP, Kara N, Keles GC, Gunes S, Koprulu H, Bagci H. (2007) Association of interleukin-10 gene polymorphisms with severe generalized chronic periodontitis. *J Periodontol.* 78: 493-497

Taki S, Schmitt M, Tarlinton D, Forster I, Rajewsky K. (1992) T cell-dependent antibody production by Ly-1 B cells. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 651: 328–335.

Tervonen T, Raunio T, Knuuttila M, Karttunen R. (2007) Polymorphisms in the CD14 and IL-6 genes associated with periodontal disease. *J Clin Periodontol.* 34: 377-383

Torres de Heens GL, Kikkert R, Aarden LA, van der Velden U, Loos BG. (2008) Effects of smoking on the ex vivo cytokine production in periodontitis. *J Periodontal Res.* Epub ahead of print Turner DM, Williams DM, Sakaran D, Lazarus M, Sinnott PJ, Hutchinson IV. (1997) An investigation of polymorphism in the interleukin-10 gene promoter. *Eur J of Immunogenetics* 24: 1-8

Ulevitch R. Tobias P. (1995) Receptor-dependent mechanisms of cell stimulation by bacterial endotoxin. *Annual Rev Immunol* 13: 437-457.

Van der Velden U, Abbas F, Armand S, de Graaff J, Timmerman MF, van der Weijden GA, van Winkelhoff AJ, Winkel EG. (2006) Java project on periodontal diseases. The natural development of periodontitis: risk factors, risk predictors and risk determinans. *J Clin Periodontol* 33: 540-548

Viau M, Zouali M. (2005) B lymphocytes, Innate immunity, and autoimmunity. *Clin Immunol* 114: 17-26

Whiteland JL, Shimeld C, Nicholls SM, Easty DL, Williams NA, Hill TJ. (1997) Immunohistochemical detection of cytokines in paraffin-embedded mouse tissues. *J Immunol Methods* 210: 103-108.

Wilson AG, di Giovine FS (1995) Genetics of TNF-alpha in autoimmune, infectious and neoplastic disease. *J. Inflammation* 45: 1-12

Yamazaki K, Nakajima T, Aoyagi T, Hara K. (1993) Immunohistological analysis of memory T lymphocytes and activated B lymphocytes in tissues with periodontal disease. *J Periodontal Res.* 28: 324-334.

Yamazaki K, Nakajima T, Kubota Y, Gemmell E, Seymour GJ, Hara K. (1997) Cytokine messenger RNA expression in chronic inflammatory periodontal disease. *Oral Micro Immunol* 12: 281-287. Yamazaki K, Tabeta K, Nakajima T, Ohsawa Y, Ueki K, Itoh H, Yoshie H. (2001) Interleukin-10 gene promoter polymorphism in Japanise patients with adult and early-onset periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol* 9: 828-832

Yamazaki K, Ueki-Maruyama K, Oda T, Tabeta K, Shimada Y, Tai H, Nakajima T, Yoshie H, Herawati D, Seymour GJ. (2003) Single-nucleotide polymorphism in the CD14 promoter and periodontal disease expression in a Japanese population. *J Dent Res.* 82: 612-616

Youinou P, Mackenzie L, Katsikis P, Merdrignac G, Isenberg DA, Tuaillon N, Lamour A, Le Goff P, Jouquan J, Drogou A. (1990) The relationship between CD5-expressing B lymphocytes and serologic abnormalities in rheumatoid arthritis patients and their relatives. *Arthritis Rheum* 33: 339–348.

Youn J, Hwang S, Cho C, Min J, Kim W, Park S & Kim H. (2000) Association of the interleukin-4 receptor  $\alpha$  variant Q551R with Th1/Th2 imbalance in connective tissue disease. *Immunogenetics* 51: 743-746

Younes R, Ghorra C, Khalife S, Igondjo-Tchen-Changotade S, Yousfi M, Willig C, Senni K, Godeau G, Naaman N. (2009) Pertinent cell population to characterize periodontal disease. *Tissue Cell*. 41: 141-150.

Zappa U, Reinking-Zappa M, Graf H, Espeland M. (1991) Cell populations and episodic periodontal attachment loss in humans. *J Clin Periodontol*. 18: 508-515.

Zitzmann NU, Berglundh T, Marinello CP, Lindhe J. (2001) Experimental periimplant mucositis in man. *J Clin Periodontol*. 28: 517-523.

Zitzmann NU, Berglundh T, Lindhe J. (2005) Inflammatory lesions in the gingiva following resective/non-resective periodontal therapy. *J Clin Periodontol* 32: 139-46.